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Welcome
We are delighted to introduce NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning
Group’s sixth Annual Report.
The 2017/18 financial year has been one of change and challenge, but by working in
partnership with our colleagues across the wider system we believe we have
adapted to the former and risen to the latter. This collaborative approach is
demonstrated by the results of our most recent 360-degree stakeholder survey, in
which 90% of our stakeholders reported a positive working relationship with the
CCG.
The CCG’s move to new headquarters at Endeavour House, Ipswich, in October
2017, enabling us to work alongside colleagues from Suffolk County Council and the
Norfolk & Suffolk Foundation Trust, will further enhance partnership working.
The quality of services received by people across Ipswich and east Suffolk remains
high overall. Where there are gaps, we have plans to address them. Mental health is
a key priority for Suffolk and we are currently in the process of designing a new
model of provision that will transform the way services are delivered across the
county.
Continued prudent management of our financial resources has enabled us to invest
in voluntary sector-led children’s emotional health and well-being projects, social
prescribing initiatives, primary care resilience and transformation programmes, and
community care infrastructure.
There has been much to celebrate throughout the year – in July 2017 NHS England
rated the CCG as ‘outstanding’ just 12 months after rating it as ‘requires
improvement’.
The Dementia Together service we commissioned from Sue Ryder received an
award from the Health Service Journal for its work in supporting the physical and
mental wellbeing of carers, and our care for diabetes patients was also rated
‘outstanding’.
Growing One Clinical Community, which fosters close links between our GPs and
hospital consultants, has been the bedrock of our progress and we plan to invest
further in individual and cross-organisational team development.
The forthcoming merger of our acute hospital trusts in Ipswich and Colchester will
ensure we have the necessary experts available for the services provided at both
sites so patients get the right care in the right place provided by the right person.
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Welcome continued

A lot has been achieved in the past 12 months, but we are determined not to rest on
our laurels. In 2018/19 we will focus on growing our alliance partnership with the
county council, Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust, the Suffolk GP
Federation and community health to further strengthen the work of our integrated
neighbourhood teams as we move towards becoming part of an integrated care
system which will put people, rather than organisations, at the heart of decision
making. We will continue to develop ever stronger ties with our neighbouring CCGs
in west Suffolk and north east Essex as part of our Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership.
Thank you to everyone whose hard work has helped us maintain our progress
throughout the year - to Governing Body and Clinical Executive members past and
present, particularly our retiring lay member for patient and public involvement
Pauline Quinn and retiring GP members John Flather and Billy McKee – and, most
importantly, to the dedicated NHS staff across the system who go ‘above and
beyond’ every day.

Dr. Mark Shenton, Chair of NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
Dr. Ed Garratt, Chief Officer of NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
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Performance Overview
Member Practices’ Introduction
This section of the Annual Report looks at how our system has performed over the
last financial year. It provides information on the purpose and activities of the CCG,
describing the environment in which the CCG works, its organisational structure, its
objectives and strategies for achieving these in the context of its local population.
The issues and risks associated with achieving these objectives are explained. The
section concludes with a short summary of performance during 2017/18, with further
detail provided in the Performance Analysis section.
The NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has eight
clinical priorities. These were chosen with the help of patients and the public, GP
member practices, partners and providers, and followed a review of local needs and
national standards.
Our eight clinical priorities are to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

ensure high quality local services
improve the health of those most in need
improve access to mental health services
promote self-care
improve the health and educational attainment of children and young people
improve outcomes for patients with diabetes so they are above the national
average
improve care for frail elderly individuals, and
allow patients to die with dignity and compassion and be able to choose their
place of death.

The CCG’s Governing Body includes seven elected GP members. Our Clinical
Executive has a further seven appointed GP members, each of whom is linked to a
number of GP member practices.
The CCG has engaged members through a variety of means including:
•
•
•
•
•
•

GP visits
locality meetings
the ‘contract query line’
training and education events
practice manager forums, and
dedicated forums for prescribing leads, nurses and medical secretaries.

More about our engagement with patients and members of the public can be found
on page 34.
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Performance Overview
Member Practices’ Introduction continued
Member practices help identify needs, design services and obtain feedback on the
performance of those services. We have ensured patient representation on our
procurement panels and show publicly how we have listened and what action we
have taken as a result, using a “You said it, we did it” approach.
The CCG has shown its commitment to working in partnership with patients by
appointing co-production ‘champions’ across the organisation.
During 2017/18 we strengthened our relationships with other commissioning partners
through the Health and Wellbeing Board and emerging Alliance. We have good
partnerships with leaders from across the wider NHS system, local councils and local
voluntary groups, and
work together on future health and care plans. Our relationships with the wider
clinical community have also been enhanced through our Elective Care Network,
Integrated Care Network and prescribing activity.
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Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG
Clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) were licensed from 1 April 2013 under
provisions enacted in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the
National Health Service Act 2006. As of 1 April 2014. Our CCG was licensed without
conditions.
All CCGs are obliged to prepare an annual report for the NHS England under the
powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006.
NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG is responsible for planning, buying and
monitoring health care services for 407,100 patients (based on GP registered
patients in February 20181).
During 2016/17 our 40 GP member practices worked increasingly together, and on 1
April 2017, a total of 11 practices joined together to form Suffolk Primary Care.
The CCG is responsible for community services, secondary care (hospital) services
and mental health services as well as NHS Continuing Healthcare. It jointly
commissioned primary medical services with NHS England until 2016/17, but since 1
April 2017 it has had delegated commissioning powers.
The Governing Body of the CCG includes seven elected GPs, a hospital doctor, a
lay member for patient and public involvement, a lay member for governance and a
third general lay member, the Chief Nursing Officer, the Chief Finance Officer and
the Accountable (Chief) Officer. It also includes four other non-voting chief officers.
The CCG’s catchment area includes the Borough of Ipswich, the Suffolk Coastal
district, parts of the districts of Mid Suffolk and Babergh and a small part of the
Borough of St Edmundsbury. The area is predominantly rural. There is one major
town - Ipswich - and three towns with populations of more than 10,000 people Felixstowe, Stowmarket and Woodbridge2.
CCG projections indicate that the population of Ipswich and east Suffolk is forecast
to increase by 4.4% between 2014 and 2024, and by 10.5% between 2014 and
20393.
Mid-2016 population estimates indicate that 89,500 CCG residents are aged 65 and
over, 22.3% of the overall population4. Projection data indicates that by 2039 there

1

https://digital.nhs.uk/Patients-registered-at-a-GP-practice-GP-data-hub
www.suffolkobservatory.info
3
www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/
clinicalcommissioninggroupsinenglandtable3
4
www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/cli
nicalcommissioninggroupmidyearpopulationestimates
2

10. NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG continued
will be an estimated 140,100 people aged 65 and over, comprising 31.9% of the total
population. This represents a shift from approximately one in five people currently to
one in three in 20 years’ time. This will increase demand for age-related services and
support. The population of Ipswich is also growing, and is projected to increase by
11% between 2014 and 2039.
People living in east Suffolk are relatively healthy compared to those in other parts of
the country, although there are still some significant issues to be addressed,
including tackling health inequalities in some areas.
Data from 2010-2012 shows that the CCG’s population has significantly higher
healthy life expectancies for both men and women compared to other areas of
England.
The data shows that in our area:
• men have a life expectancy of 80.7 years and a healthy life expectancy of 66.3
years, meaning 82.1% of their lives are spent in ‘good health’, and
• women have a life expectancy of 84 years and a healthy life expectancy of 67.3
years, meaning 80.1% of their lives are spent in ‘good health’.
However, significant health inequalities exist. For example, in Ipswich there is a 7.1
year life expectancy gap at birth for men, and a 5.3 year gap for women, between
those living in the most and least deprived areas.
The main causes of death in Ipswich and east Suffolk mirror those across England,
with two-thirds of all deaths caused by cancer, circulatory diseases (including
coronary heart disease and stroke) and respiratory diseases5. Circulatory diseases
(including coronary heart disease and stroke) are the most prevalent causes of death
driving inequalities in life expectancy in Suffolk6, and cancer is the leading cause of
premature mortality.
A summary demographic profile of the CCG produced by NHS England is available
at www.England.nhs.uk

5

www.fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/segment/area-searchresults/E10000029?place_name=Suffolk&search_type=parent-area
6
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Performance Overview
CCG Headquarters and Operational Area
Prior to October 2017 the CCG’s headquarters had been located at Rushbrook
House in Paper Mill Lane, Bramford, on the outskirts of Ipswich, but since October
2017 they have been located at Endeavour House in Ipswich, which the CCG shares
with Suffolk County Council, the Norfolk & Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust, Babergh
District Council and Mid Suffolk District Council.
Endeavour House was constructed between 2001 and 2003 and is one of the most
energy efficient office buildings in Europe.
Easy access to colleagues from partner organisations improves the effectiveness of
joint working. The hot desk facilities available at Endeavour House enable the
shared management delivery team to work from Ipswich when necessary, thereby
making better use of resources and time.
Around 60 members of the CCG’s Continuing Health Care Team and Multi-Agency
Safeguarding Hub relocated to Landmark House in Ipswich after Rushbrook House
was vacated. They share the building with colleagues from Suffolk Police and Suffolk
County Council.
The CCG shares its management delivery team with colleagues from the
neighbouring NHS West Suffolk CCG, which is based at West Suffolk House in Bury
St Edmunds, a building it shares with colleagues from Suffolk County Council, St.
Edmundsbury Borough Council and the East of England Local Government
Association.
The management delivery team provides contracted services to both CCGs. It is led
by a shared Accountable Officer.
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Performance Overview
CCG Headquarters and Operational Area continued
The area covered by the CCG is shown to the right of Stowmarket on the map
below.

o

Ipswich Practices
1. The Chesterfield Drive Practice
2. Deben Road Surgery
3. The Norwich Road Surgery
4. Ivry Street Medical Street
5. Burlington Road Surgery
6. Barrack Lane Medical Centre
7. The Dr Solway & Dr Mallick Practice
8. Orchard Medical Practice
9. Two Rivers
10. Hawthorn Drive Surgery
11. The Derby Road Practice
12. Felixstowe Road Medical Practice
13. Ravenswood Medical Practice

A1156
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Performance Overview
Commissioning Activity
The CCG commissions services from a range of organisations including acute
hospital trusts, GP practices, voluntary organisations and other NHS and non-NHS
providers.
The services we commission include:
•

Urgent care services - including ambulance response services, hospital
accident and emergency departments and the NHS111 telephone service

•

Elective care services - for planned operations and interventions

•

Community services – including community nursing and therapy
services, community hospitals and the provision of community equipment.

•

Mental health and learning disability services - provided in both inpatient and at-home settings

•

Children’s services – aimed at supporting children with individual NHS
contracts and those receiving services provided in association with Suffolk
County Council

•

Primary Care Services – in and out of hours GP Services, and

•

Non-urgent patient transport.

All contracts with providers are closely managed by a dedicated, highly skilled
contracting team to ensure services are delivered as set out in the contracts and
provide value for money for the people of Suffolk. The contracting team also ensures
that both the quality and the performance of services are consistently scrutinised.
The team has built strong, collaborative partnerships with our providers, providing
support, but also challenging where appropriate. Our aim is to work from a position
of trust, respect and active clinical leadership.
All commissioning decisions are based on clinical best practice and data analysis.
Service providers are required to demonstrate care outcomes and value for money.
Each of our services is required to measure its effectiveness by outcomes for
patients and the feedback patients give on their experiences. Performance and
impact is reviewed across each service to ensure it is delivering value of money.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives
Our core strategies for achieving our objectives are summarised below:

Integrated Care: Our work involves joining up services to make them simpler,
so that the public can better access them when in need. The highlights for 2017/18
are as follows:
Reactive Emergency Assessment Community Team (REACT)
REACT is a new initiative which went live on 8th January 2018 and has integrated all
existing admission avoidance services into one team. The objective of REACT is to
fully integrate the Crisis Action Team (CAT), the Admission Prevention Service East
(APS), the Frailty Assessment Base (FAB) and the Emergency Therapy Team (ETT)
into one robust admission prevention service for East Suffolk known as REACT.
Existing referral routes remain the same.
End of Life (EOL) Service Developments in east Suffolk
Improved Better Care Funding (iBCF) was agreed by Alliance partners in December
2017 to pilot a new End of Life service model. This will support patients, families and
carers in their final stage of life, support patients to die in their preferred place of
death and reduce the number of deaths occurring in hospitals.
The model builds on the role of St Elizabeth Hospice in becoming a co-ordinating
‘hub’ for a range of end of life care services in east Suffolk. Measures will include:
•
•
•
•

working with Ipswich Hospital Trust to facilitate early discharge for patients
with existing Continuing Care/Personal Health Budgets through in-reach
work
increasing palliative care capacity, including more community nurses and
health care assistants, coordinated by the Hospice but delivered in
partnership with other statutory and third sector providers
working with other health and care providers, including care homes, to
ensure they are equipped to look after end of life patients, and
developing a range of care homes accredited and actively supported by
their local hospice to provide direct admission as an alternative to hospital
and to facilitate discharge from hospital for those not yet ready to go
home.

The pilot will commence in January 2018 for a period of 18 months and will be
evaluated to measure impact.
Patient discharge transport
The Integrated Care Transformation team has been working in partnership with
colleagues from the East of England Ambulance Service Trust and the Ipswich
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued
Hospital NHS Trust to streamline non-emergency patient transport. New pathways
were launched in December 2017, which require hospital staff to:
•
•
•
•

question whether a patient is eligible for transport and explore other
options first, e.g. relatives and friends
ensure the correct category of transport is booked and a stretcher only
booked when necessary
ensure patients are ready for the booked time to avoid turning crews away
and reduce the number of unnecessary journeys, and
book transport 48 hours in advance of the discharge date wherever
possible to assist with scheduling of journeys and reduce ‘on the day’
bookings.

The overall aim is to reduce the number of unnecessary journeys and to increase the
number of advance bookings for discharge transport, thereby reducing wasted
capacity and allowing more discharge journeys during periods of high demand.
Trusted Assessment
The objective of Trusted Assessment is to avoid duplication of assessments and
improve patient experience by preventing people from having to tell their story more
than once. This is a national requirement, which will help the CCG to deliver its
integration objectives across health and social care.
A Suffolk-wide steering group has been established and a project implementation
plan has been developed. In Ipswich and east Suffolk the Trusted Assessment
approach is being tested to support the new Rapid Emergency Assessment
Community Team (REACT) service. This will enable hospital emergency teams and
the community-based Crisis Action Team (CAT) to access the same assessments
over SystmOne, and for these to be joined up with previous community patient
assessments.
Further work during 2018 is planned to integrate the Frailty Assessment Base (FAB)
into SystmOne and share assessments between the Community and Acute
Continence Service.
Discharge to Assess Programme
In Ipswich and east Suffolk the Discharge to Assess Programme (D2A) officially
started in June 2017. It is a national mandatory programme that aims to support
people to go home from hospital and provide alternative pathways for those people
who cannot go straight home. It is a free service at the point of delivery, regardless
of ongoing funding arrangements. The programme consists of four pathways. These
are:
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued
•

•

•

•

Pathway 0 - launched as ‘Ticket Home’ in October 2017 on four champion
wards at Ipswich Hospital & the Short Term Assessment Reablement and
Rehabilitation (STARR) Centre (Bluebird Lodge) with the aim of
encouraging patients and their families or carers to be involved in coordinating the patient’s discharge from hospital to home at the earliest
possible opportunity
Pathway 1 - launched as an integrated health and social care service pilot
in October 2017 to provide therapy staff and re-ablement support to
Ipswich Hospital wards and the STARR Centre. This service aims to get
the patient home before undertaking a detailed assessment and provides
up to six weeks re-ablement support
Pathway 2 – The STARR centre launched on 30th November 2017. The
STARR centre is based at Bluebird Lodge Community Hospital, staffed by
a multi-disciplinary team, and delivers 24-hour support, observation and
treatment within an inpatient setting. Through rehabilitation and
enablement interventions it aims to work with patients to help them regain
sufficient independence to return home within a 14-day period. This differs
to the other community inpatient hospitals in Ipswich and east Suffolk,
where the length of stay may be longer than 14 days.
Pathway 3 – this focuses on complex patients who could be rehabilitated
but are unlikely to return home. This includes patients referred from
hospital to delirium beds and Continuing Healthcare (CHC) beds for
assessment and ongoing care planning. Pathway 3 will be further
developed during 2018.

Full D2A Pathway Implementation is on track to be achieved by June 2018, with a
further year to embed the new ways of working and to see the full benefits realised.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued

Planned Care:

Planned care in hospital or in the community after a request
from a doctor, nurse or health and care professional, is a major part of our work to
meet people’s needs. Clinicians take a lead role in setting priorities through Clinical
Transformation Groups (CTGs).
Ophthalmology (Eyesight)
The Ophthalmology Alliance is a collaboration between the CCG and Ipswich
Hospital which has developed safe and efficient ways of working, tested through a
community pilot study. The alliance is in the process of identifying a partner
organisation capable of delivering a standard of care which will improve the patient
experience.
Musculoskeletal (Limbs)
A new model of musculoskeletal (MSK) care was launched on 1 October 2016. The
Ipswich and East Suffolk Integrated MSK service brought together two providers of
MSK care - Allied Health Professionals Suffolk and Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust
(IHT). Access to orthopaedic, rheumatology and pain services is now provided in one
place through a single point of access for both referrals from GPs and via patients
self-referring for community physiotherapy.
The service has continued to make improvements throughout this year. Enhanced
recovery has been introduced for patients receiving hip and knee replacements and
as a result patients are in hospital for less time and are able to go home with
adequate support to aid their recovery. The pain service has introduced ‘community
pain sessions’ which offer help and support patients to manage their pain, reducing
the need for hospital visits. These changes have been carefully monitored by the
service to ensure they are achieving good outcomes for patients.
Gastroenterology (Digestion)
The CCG and Ipswich Hospital are collaborating on a new model of care for
gastroenterology patients which aims to ensure they are treated by the right clinician,
in the right setting at the right time.
A new community gastroenterology service will be launched later this year to act as
a bridge between GP surgeries and hospitals. The aims of this new service include:
•
ensuring patient care is more joined-up
•
providing some gastroenterology patients with an alternative to hospital
care
•
linking gastroenterology patients to lifestyle, wellbeing and patient support
groups
•
supporting the CCG’s prevention strategy via health promotion, early
intervention and maximising the benefits of screening programmes, and
•
providing training for nurses and GPs on gastroenterology matters.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued
Respiratory (Breathing)
The CCG has been working closely with Ipswich Hospital, Respiratory Community
Services and a patient representative to look at opportunities to improve services for
patients. This has included the ‘MyCOPD’ (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease)
pilot programme for selected patients which enables them to self-manage their
condition using an app. Almost all patients with COPD will benefit from the app
regardless of disease severity or stage of treatment.
Cardiology (Heart)
GPs and hospital doctors have been working together to improve the hospital
experience and the community cardiology service. This has included improvements
to care pathways and better information channels.
Prevention
The CCG and our neighbouring CCGs in west Suffolk and north east Essex have
been working together with public health teams, GPs and hospital consultants to
help keep the local population healthy. We are currently working on early detection
of heart disease and atrial fibrillation, which are both conditions that can lead to heart
attacks and strokes if untreated.
Map of Medicine
The Map of Medicine is an online package for GPs which gives them instant access
to information which helps them guide patients through their care. It is a support and
referral tool which identifies best practice guidance as well as local referral pathways
and providers. There are currently 98 local maps and over 120 referral forms.
Cancer
Strategies to improve early diagnosis of cancer have continued to be a focus this
year. Patients whose cancer goes diagnosed during an emergency admission have
lower survival rates than those who are urgently referred by their GP. The Macmillan
Ipswich Diagnostic Assessment Service (MIDAS) is currently being piloted to
determine an effective pathway for patients who have vague symptoms that may
indicate cancer. Ipswich Hospital has also been a pilot area for the new faster
diagnosis standard which aims to either rule out or confirm cancer within 28 days of
a GP referral.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued

Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and Children’s
Services: The CCG continues to work closely with patient and its partners to
improve health outcomes for children and young people and patients with mental
health issues through the Suffolk Mentally Healthy Communities Board, the Suffolk
Children’s Alliance and the Children’s Emotional Wellbeing Group. We continue to
work closely with the Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (NSFT) towards
better integration of mental and physical health services.

A number of workshops have been held in partnership with the Suffolk User Forum
and NSFT during the past year to review the delivery and function of local mental
health services.
We have worked in co-production with NHS West Suffolk CCG, Suffolk County
Council, health and care organisations, charities, schools, young people and the
Suffolk Parent Carer Network to develop service models for children, young people
and families.
Our work during 2017/18 has included:
Mental Health Services
 the further development of a multi-agency single point of access (Wellbeing Hub)
for children’s mental health and emotional wellbeing services across health and
care
 the expansion of the Suffolk Wellbeing service for children, young people and
families
 the commissioning of a specialist community perinatal mental health service
provided by NSFT working with the specialist perinatal midwives at Ipswich and
West Suffolk hospitals to provide direct support and interventions for women with
severe perinatal mental health presentations. A bid for additional funding was
due to be submitted to NHS England in March 2018 to support women with mild
to moderate mental health presentations
 the commissioning of the health content for The Source website for young
people
 the provision of £100,000 in recurring grant funding for a number of voluntary
sector services including Noise Solutions, Anglia Care Trust, Fresh Start New
Beginnings and Homestart, all of which support young people and their families.
Suffolk Community Foundation has also been commissioned as a broker to
award a further £200,000 focused on early intervention and prevention services
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued



the commissioning in April 2017 of the Marginalised and Vulnerable People’s
Service
the commissioning of services in partnership with Suffolk County Council through
the Mental Health Pooled Fund. This includes a new information service
provided in partnership with Suffolk Libraries, Suffolk Family Carers and Suffolk
MIND to provide advice, guidance and emotional support to people living in the
county

Dementia
 continued support for and promotion of the early diagnosis of dementia to ensure
that details of patients with the disease are appropriately recorded on GP
registers
 the fulfilling of Alzheimer’s UK criteria for a dementia-friendly organisation.
Similar plans are in place for GP practices
 the provision in April 2017 of the Dementia Together service, designed with
carers and patients to support people concerned about or living with dementia
and their carers as well as professionals. The service won the CCG & Local
Authority Integrated Commissioning for Carers Award at the prestigious Health
Service Journal Awards.
Learning Disabilities
 continued improvement in the care and management of people with learning
disabilities at primary care level, particularly around their uptake of health checks
 the introduction of four learning disability link nurses working with general
practices to support people with learning disabilities following a successful pilot
 the commissioning from NSFT of a new Adult Learning Disability Intensive
Community Support Team and a Children’s Learning Disability Service
Children’s services
 The introduction of a county-wide Children’s Alliance with the NHS West Suffolk
CCG, West Suffolk Hospital, Ipswich Hospital, NSFT, Suffolk County Council
and the Suffolk GP Federation, which has identified the following six key
children’s priorities:
o Priority 1: Children’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing Plan
o Priority 2: Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)
o Priority 3: Speech and Language Therapy and Communication
o Priority4: Neurodevelopmental and Behaviour Pathway to support
patients with Autism (ASD), Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder
(ADHD) and Conduct Disorder and Behaviour
o Priority 5: Children and Young People’s Community Health Services
o Priority 6: An acute/emergency paediatric pathway
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives continued

Primary Care: The CCG is committed to commissioning high quality and
resilient primary care services. Our GP Forward View strategy, drawn up in
conjunction with our colleagues from the NHS West Suffolk and NHS North East
Essex clinical commissioning groups, supports member practices and ensures
patients continue to receive high quality services.
Delegated commissioning
During 2017/18 the CCG became directly responsible for commissioning general
practice services. This enables a more primary care decisions to be made at a local
level and ensure a better fit with other care services through increased partnership
working.
The switch to delegated commissioning involved a significant amount of preparation
around the legal and financial implications of the move, as well as consideration of
how decisions would be made.
The way in which the CCG discharges its delegated functions has been reviewed by
internal audit and given substantial assurance.
Support for general practice in Ipswich
GP practices in Ipswich face additional challenges to those experienced by practices
elsewhere in Suffolk. The CCG has worked with Ipswich practices to secure
additional resources to enable them to adopt different models of service delivery and
to work more closely together.
Care homes
During 2017 the CCG continued to develop its GP led care home services, which
gives GP practices the necessary funding to provide proactive care for care home
patients. This includes improved medicine reviews and focused work around frailty
and dementia.
Local enhanced services
A range of additional services have been commissioned from GP practices to
maximise the delivery of care close to patients’ homes.
Personal Medical Services contract
A dashboard tool has been developed to help GP practices monitor how they are
performing. This is also reported to the Primary Care Commissioning Committee.
Learning disabilities
All GP practices are now signed up to provide annual health checks for patients with
learning disabilities with the aim of improving care. IT processes have been updated
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with details of how patients wish to be communicated with to meet the requirements
of the Information Accessibility Standard.
Estates
The CCG has supported a series of bids for funding from the Estates and
Technology Transformation Fund. A number were approved and work is already
underway. The CCG is also involved in an innovative partnership with Ipswich
Borough Council to develop a new GP hub in the town.
Ensuring a resilient primary care system
The CCG has worked with GP practices to address any issues that may impact on
their ability to deliver services and supported bids for funding from the Practice
Resilience Programme.
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Medicines Management: The CCG has adopted five medicine
management strategies in 2017/18 to ensure safe, high quality, cost-effective
prescribing.
Targeted practice engagement
Regular prescribing meetings were held with ‘over budget’ practices to identify
opportunities for savings. Practices were offered training opportunities including
sessions on respiratory and wound care. The CCG also offered practices prescribing
support software, and 37 out of our 40 practices now have the system installed.
Medicines Management Team support
Practices and care homes were provided with pharmacist and pharmacy technician
support to help undertake medication reviews. Practices were also provided with
monthly benchmarking data to enable effective individual decision making and peer
review.
Contractual requirements and reinvestment scheme
The Personal Medical Services Development Framework and the General Medical
Services Local Enhanced Service Prescribing Incentive Scheme support GP
practices to meet their prescribing budget and undertake safety and quality
orientated projects. The focus in 2017/18 has been on optimising medication use for
patients living with frailty and tackling antibiotic resistance. A reinvestment scheme
has also been developed, thereby reducing waste of medicines.
Collaborative working
The CCG has worked with providers and fellow CCGs within our STP footprint to
improve prescribing across the area and reduce variation. A joint formulary is now in
place to promote cost-effective prescribing in primary and secondary care.
Patient and public engagement
Work was undertaken with our Community Engagement Partnership (CEP) to
identify what worked well and what needed improving from our previous public
campaigns. This will help inform the CCG’s future campaign strategy. The CEP has
also helped develop a new campaign, launched during the summer, to promote selfcare for hay fever sufferers. Feedback was sought at public events, including the
Suffolk Show, and at a carers event held at the Grove Medical Centre.
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NHS Continuing Healthcare: NHS Continuing Healthcare (CHC) is for
adult who have an ongoing ‘primary health need’ that is arranged and funded solely
by the NHS. The CHC Team aims to achieve the best possible assessment of, and
care for patients and to ensure these are delivered locally in a fair and cost-effective
way.
Initiatives undertaken by the CHC Team in 2017/18 have included:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

piloting the integration of social care staff into the CHC Team to create a
more efficient service for patients and their families
relocating to Landmark House to aid closer working with social care
colleagues
the creation of a Joint Working Policy between CHC and social care to
improve patient experience
holding public engagement events to answer questions about CHC
an ongoing programme of training on the CHC assessment processes for
colleagues from Ipswich Hospital, St Elizabeth Hospice and community
healthcare teams
the implementation of the CHC ‘Discharge to Assess’ model so that
assessments are no longer conducted in an acute hospital setting
closer working with the hospital and social care to ensure CHC patients
are discharged safely and appropriately
transferring management of Personal Health Budgets to the CHC Team
continued participation in the nationwide NHS England CHC Strategic
Improvement Programme
working with health care, social care and care home providers on the Care
Homes Strategic Market Review to help develop services which will
support the health and social care needs of people in Suffolk, and
closer working between social care and the CCG’s quality team to
maximise standards among domiciliary and care home providers.
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The CCG’s Agreed Revenue Allocation for the year ending 31 March 2018, was
£544.9m. This was based on a formula which takes into account factors such as
the age and needs of the population served by the CCG as well as market
forces.

Resources
The NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk and NHS West Suffolk CCGs are overseen
by a single management delivery team headed by an accountable officer. Both
CCGs also have a shared Chief Nursing Officer, Chief Finance Officer, Chief
Contracts Officer, Chief Corporate Services Officer and Chief Transformation
Officer. Each CCG has its own dedicated Chief Operating Officer.
This structure has enabled the provision of:
•
•
•

dedicated support for the specific functions required of each CCG, its
Governing Body, committees and membership
expertise in safeguarding, quality and safety, financial management
and contracting, and
economies of scale through shared functions.

Risks and uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties relevant to the CCG during the course of
2017/18 are recorded and managed by the Governing Body Assurance Framework
(GBAF).
At the year end the CCG is carrying forward a number of risks on the GBAF in
the following areas:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Failure to achieve financial balance
Failure to redesign and commission services covered by the Urgent Care
and Health and Independence Reviews within the required timescales
Mental health trust performance
Meeting statutory safeguarding duties
A&E targets
Reduction in the capacity of GP services in Ipswich
Blood transfusion services
SEND reforms
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust performance
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All of these risks are reviewed on a regular basis by the Chief Officers and
reports are made to Governing Body, Clinical Scrutiny Committee and the Audit
Committee which hold the CCG to account regarding plans to mitigate these
risks.
Each Chief Officer maintains a local risk register which ensures that risks are
identified as early as possible and managed to reduce their potential impact.
A Risk Forum has been set up to enable risks and activities to be shared across
the organisation enabling a more holistic approach to risk management.
The CCG’s Governing Body Assurance Framework and Management of Conflict
of Interests have been given ‘substantial’ internal audit assurance ratings.
The CCG is in the process of implementing Datix risk management software.
The Governing Body has risk management strategies and an organisational
framework which sets out how risks should be managed. The full GBAF can be
viewed within the Governing Body papers on our website.
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The Ipswich & East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group delivered its key statutory
and administrative financial duties during the financial year ending 31 March 2018 with
a cumulative surplus of £11.4million, against an overall Agreed Revenue Allocation of
£544.9million.
This surplus was composed of £7.57million of surplus from previous years and
£3.8million from 2017/18. The 2017/18 surplus was made up of £2.3million
contingency reserve which NHS England and HM Treasury required the organisation
to hold in case of financial deficits elsewhere in the NHS, £0.5million released to
CCGs in March from national drug cost negotiations, and £0.98million of surplus
relating to CCG activities undertaken during the year ending 31 March 2018. Financial
performance targets can be found in Section 3 Accounts, Note 19.
We continue to face a highly challenging financial environment which has resulted in
all CCGs being required to retain half of one per cent of their funds in case of
potential deficits elsewhere in the NHS. This requirement, combined with rising
demand and costs locally, meant the savings required through Quality, Innovation,
Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) schemes continued to be a significant factor
driving the CCG’s financial plans.
The CCG was able to deliver the savings required due to a combination of factors
including continuing the method of contracting introduced in 2016/17 with Ipswich
Hospital NHS Trust and West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust, improved performance
in prescribing, and by continuing to make savings in the level of Continuing
Healthcare costs, despite continued upward pressure on prices and demand.
CCGs aim to deliver a range of performance targets on behalf of their resident
populations. These are a combination of the NHS Constitutional Standards and the
targets set out in the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework, both of which
are nationally prescribed. In addition to the national performance targets, the CCG
aims to make progress on a number of local indicators as determined by the CCG
Quality Premium programme and other locally determined priorities.
NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG measures its performance against this range of
national and local performance measures through an Integrated Performance Report
which is presented to the Governing Body and Clinical Scrutiny Committee. These
reports monitor progress over the year using a traffic light system to show
performance against target levels. Explanations are included to alert the decision
making committees to the reasons for any variances and action planned to improve
or maintain performance. Risks to achievement of targets and plans to rectify
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continued dips in performance are incorporated into the Governing Body Assurance
Framework.
Throughout 2017/18 the challenges posed by the need to meet national performance
targets have been even greater than those posed by the financial restraints placed
on the NHS. In spite of the national picture, local performance has remained
relatively strong. While there are some targets which have not been met in full, such
as the four-hour accident and emergency standard, 18-week Referral to Treatment
and the new ambulance targets introduced during the year, the CCG continues to
perform well and the majority of targets relating to cancer treatment waiting times
continue to be achieved or very close to target, with good progress being made on
the mental health targets. Pages 39 and 40 show the performance of the CCG
against the standards set out in the NHS Constitution and Outcomes Framework.
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What is sustainable development?
Sustainable development seeks to balance the long-term social, environmental and
economic needs of the present, without compromising the ability of future
generations to meet their own needs. For the CCG, this means paying attention to
our impact on the environment, and working to ensure we meet the diverse health
and wellbeing needs of our population.
CCG performance and achievements
We commission healthcare services to protect and improve the health of current and
future generations. We are committed to reducing carbon emissions, minimising
waste and pollution, making the best use of scarce resources, building resilience to a
changing climate and nurturing community strengths and assets. Working with our
partners we promote sustainability and carbon reduction in a variety of ways, from
using teleconferencing and car sharing to developing opportunities for services
within local areas.
In 2017/18 we developed a Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP).
This set out our vision for becoming a leading sustainable organisation and
explained how we intended to do this. It determined how we responded to the
current and emerging environmental, social and economic challenges posed by
climate change to the healthcare estates and on patient health. In recent years these
have included heatwaves, prolonged periods of cold, floods and droughts. Our
SDMP included an action to develop an ‘adaptation plan’ aimed at off-setting the
future climate change risks which could affect Suffolk.
We will use the Good Corporate Citizenship assessment tool to monitor the less
obvious benefits of sustainable development, which will be reviewed annually. We
will join the Investors in the Environment Network, which supports organisations to
reduce their direct reliance on energy and natural resources, thereby cutting costs
and emissions. Based on our commitment to improving our environmental
performance we hope to achieve Investors in the Environment ‘Silver Award’
accreditation in 2018/19.
Once our SDMP has been developed, an accompanying action plan will be included
that will help us achieve our targets.
Direct impacts
We have direct control over our greenhouse gas emissions including building energy
consumption, waste, water and sewage. Our employees create indirect emissions as
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a result of driving to and from work and home. Over the past year we have
encouraged our employees to make sustainable travel choices and think about
energy efficiency. Our Staff Health and Wellbeing Group will recruit ‘green
champions’ and seek innovative ideas and feedback on the organisation’s working
practices and environment. The group already supports the healthy workforce
agenda, which aims to help staff remain healthy by providing access to initiatives
that promote healthy lifestyles.
Indirect impacts
We aim to increase awareness of the need for carbon management and resource
efficiency among our external suppliers and providers by developing sustainable
procurement and through low carbon commissioning work. This will reduce the
carbon footprint of our supply chain as well as helping to minimise vehicle pollution
and reduce environmental damage. We have already taken steps to encourage
sustainable transport by our commissioned services in our Procurement Policy. This
policy includes the requirement for corporate social responsibility to be one of the
key criteria used in assessing the suitability of potential providers.
Our day-to-day sustainability measures include:
 reminding staff and visitors to turn off lights when leaving rooms and to turn
off their computers when not in use
 encouraging staff to work electronically and only print emails and documents
when absolutely necessary (meeting papers are uploaded to a secure portal,
meaning more people can be involved in sharing ideas)
 setting printers to print double-sided to reduce the amount of paper used
 uploading papers for training and education events onto our website for GP
members to read and download as necessary
 providing recycling bins for paper and plastic
 using online internal newsletters to minimise paper waste
 encouraging car sharing and use of public transport, as well as signing to a
cycle-to-work scheme, to help reduce our travel emissions
 promoting web or tele conferencing to reduce the number of cars on the road,
lower carbon emissions and reduce the amount of the working day lost in
travelling to off-site meetings, and
 commissioning services that provide care closer to patients’ homes to
minimise carbon emissions by reducing the distance that patients have to
travel to health and social care appointments.
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‘Leading Change, Adding Value (2016)’ is a framework for all nursing, midwifery and
care staff which acknowledges the crucial role their professions have in closing the
care and quality gap identified in the Five Year Forward View.
The CCG has introduced new ways of monitoring the quality of our commissioned
services, ranging from providing support to contractors and, if necessary, taking action
to hold them to account if and when issues affecting performance are identified.
The Chief Nursing Officer monitors clinical standards in line with national guidance
and best practice, assuring providers’ clinical governance arrangements, verifying
quality accounts and reviewing all serious incidents and clinical investigations.
Where provider organisations are designated as failing, further measures are taken
to monitor and support them. These include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

engaging fully with regulatory improvement frameworks
sharing expertise to improve quality monitoring systems
regularly sharing intelligence with the provider, regulators and associate
commissioners
constructively challenging existing or potential areas of concern
supporting the development of improvement plans and offering resources
to monitor and test them, and
carrying out frequent quality improvement visits to address identified
concerns.

The Chief Nursing Officer is also our lead for safeguarding children and vulnerable
adults, actively engaging with partner organisations to ensure they are appropriately
protected. During the past 12 months the CCG has taken part in reviews to improve
partnership working.
The Transforming Care Programme has enabled us to bring patients who had
previously been given placements outside of Suffolk back into the county and move
inpatients into less restrictive care settings. The CCG has signed up to the National
LeDer Programme to learn from the deaths of people with learning disabilities, who
typically have a lower life expectancy.
We have provided a designated programme of support to care homes through
regular Quality Improvement Visits, the outcomes of which are shared with relevant
partners. The past year has seen an improvement in the CQC ratings achieved by
care homes within our area. Regular meetings take place with both Suffolk County
Council and the CQC to ensure intelligence about care home providers is shared
across the county. The Chief Nursing Officer’s team has also provided increased
support to primary care services around safeguarding children and young people.
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The Chief Operating Officer’s team has provided dedicated support to primary care
providers before and after CQC inspections in addition to wide-ranging training and
education for clinicians and management teams.
The CQC has now inspected all 40 GP practices in the CCG area and almost all
were rated “good” or “outstanding” with just one practice being deemed as “requires
improvement”. The inspections show our GP practices deliver care in innovative
ways to benefit patients and the wider community. No single issue was identified as
a cause for concern, but the safety of medicines, safety alerts and HR issues were
highlighted as requiring improvement at a few practices.
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The CCG aims to put patient and public engagement at the heart of all service
provision. By encouraging the active participation of patients, carers, community
groups and their representatives, we can deliver better services to ensure that
people get the right care, in the right place, from the right person.
This year we have created a suite of materials that help guide the way we engage
with our population to make sure our commissioning is appropriate and effective,
taking into account the area’s diverse population and the health inequalities we need
to address. It is essential we are able to communicate effectively with people from
disadvantaged or vulnerable groups, as well as people who struggle to access our
services. This helps us understand how our decisions might impact on different
groups and individuals.
This suite of materials includes an Engagement Framework and Engagement Toolkit
that assists CCG staff to:






identify who they need to engage with and how people can influence our service
planning, commissioning intentions and procurement
ensure enough time is given so that meaningful feedback can be collected and
considered
adapt their approach to meet the specific needs of different patient groups and
communities
ensure responses are analysed, and
provide clear feedback to the public which reflects their input.

The CCG’s commitment to engagement is further evidenced by the appointment of
‘partnership champions’ in every one of its directorates. A partnership champions
group meets every month.
Our Community Engagement Partnership (CEP), a sub-group of the Governing Body
whose members are drawn from a number of groups and organisations within
Ipswich and east Suffolk, goes from strength and strength and is currently seeking
new members. The CEP’s aim is to make sure the public’s views are taken into
account when we plan and develop services and its members are able to share their
individual health care experiences. The lay member for patient and public
involvement on the CCG’s Governing Body sits as vice-chair of the CEP. As well as
being able to scrutinise the Governing Body’s decisions they give the CEP a direct
channel to the CCG’s decision makers. The lay member’s responsibilities also
include chairing the CCG’s Primary Care Commissioning Committee.
CEP members have been actively involved in procurement and recruitment
throughout 2017/18.

34. NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Performance Analysis
Engaging people and communities continued

The CEP hosts an annual Patient Conference at which partner organisations,
stakeholder groups and members of the public can have their say on local health
provision and contribute ideas and opinions.
You can read more about how we involve patients, carers, community groups and
the public in every stage of our commissioning process in the ‘Have your say’ section
of our website, which provides more information on how you can get involved in
shaping NHS services.
The Ipswich and East Suffolk Patient Participation Group (PPG) Network meets
regularly to give members of each GP practice’s PPG the chance to learn from each
other and discuss important commissioning and local health issues. This helps
ensure the PPGs have the knowledge they need to function effectively, both at
practice level and also in representing the views of their wider practice population to
service commissioners.
This year the CCG has made some funding available this year to help support their
growth and development and to assist them in promoting self-care and prevention for
our local population. PPGs from practices across the CCG have been invited to
apply for “The PPG£”, of up to £1,000 each, or to join with other PPGs to submit a
joint application for a higher amount
We are looking for ideas that help support the CCG’s self-care and prevention
agenda and demonstrate the involvement of PPG members and patients in the
development of ideas. The CCG is working alongside Suffolk Community Foundation
in this initiative, with representatives from both organisations making up the
application review panel.
A number of our PPGs have hosted health awareness events for their local
population. These have included:






an Aging Well event in May 2017 and a mental health event in October 2017 by
the Two Rivers Medical Centre PPG
two carers events hosted by the Grove PPG in Felixstowe in May and November
2017
a diabetes-themed event hosted by the Ravenswood PPG in April 2017 and a
“How healthy is your heart?” event in November 2017
the Peninsula Practice in Alderton hosted an event alongside one of their flu
clinics in October 2017, and
an event to raise awareness of dementia and highlight the support services
available for patients and carers hosted by the PPG of Little St John’s surgery at
Woodbridge Library in June 2017.

All of these events were well attended by local residents and supported by a number
of providers and voluntary and community sector organisations.
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All our stakeholder groups provide patient and public feedback on all aspects of
service provision and on governing body decisions, as well as advising us on wider
engagement issues. We attended a number of community events and local forums
during the year to obtain feedback from patients and members of the public on
different health care related issues. Feedback from these meetings and outreach
work in the local community has been used to shape the future of local health
services.
During the year the CCG has attended numerous events including the Indian Mela in
Ipswich, the Suffolk Show, wellbeing and mental health events, and Suffolk Parent
Carer Network’s Emotional Health & Wellbeing Conference in Elmswell, which it
jointly hosted. Regular meetings are held with groups such as the CAT young
persons network, the Disability Focus Group and OneLife Suffolk.
The CCG continues to support a multi-disciplinary team providing assistance for
young people in Leiston and surrounding areas. Two successful ‘Crucial Crew Plus’
events have been delivered at Alde Valley Academy, educating students on
everyday issues including consent, substance abuse and internet safety. We are
involved in a number of other local projects including a satellite sports project to
increase physical activity among young people and a ‘pop-up’ shop on Leiston High
Street to raise awareness of health and social care and wellbeing.
As part of the CCG’s ‘Feet on the Street’ initiative staff took to the streets of Ipswich,
Hadleigh, Aldeburgh, Felixstowe and Stowmarket to raise awareness among the
public of the great benefits of consenting to share patient records.
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In line with our legal duty to reduce health inequalities the CCG works closely
alongside the Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Board (SHWB) and Public Health
England (PHE).
Our aim is to work closely with PHE to ensure we make high impact, cost effective
interventions to achieve this.
Through the SHWB we provide direct support for those groups of people in the
county which experience worse care and health outcomes. NHS England’s Five Year
Forward View challenges organisations to work harder to close the gap in
inequalities and the CCG has an Operational Plan to set out how it will respond to
that challenge.
Suffolk’s ‘Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (refresh 2016-2019)’ outlines the steps
that need to be taken to help people in the county live healthier, happier lives and
aims to narrow the differences in healthy life expectancy between those living in our
most deprived communities and those from more affluent areas.
The CCG has also re-commissioned a Marginalised and Vulnerable Adults (MVA)
service. This service helps homeless people, refugees and asylum seekers, migrant
workers, ex-offenders, gypsies and travellers and other black and minority ethnic
communities to better access GP services.
As well as encouraging these groups to register with a GP the service also provides
some outreach healthcare, and makes use of a telephone interpreting service and
face-to-face interpreters to ensure it is accessible for people who do not speak
English as a first language.
We have: commissioned the Wellbeing Service to help people experiencing stress
and anxiety; continue to support the Connect project, which aims to identify the
causes of health inequalities in local communities; and continue to forge sustainable
community partnerships.
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The Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Board is the key Suffolk leadership group for
health, care and wellbeing. It is the forum where the CCG, together with Suffolk
County Council and other partners from the local health economy including the
police, the voluntary sector and Healthwatch Suffolk, work together to improve
wellbeing outcomes. It is responsible for delivering the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The vice-chairman is the
CCG's Accountable Officer.
In January 2016 the Board published its ‘Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
(refresh 2016-2019)’. This was followed two months later by ‘The Time is Now – a
prevention strategy for Suffolk to reduce demand in health and care by improving
health (2016-2021)’.
The Strategy aims to ensure that people in Suffolk live healthier, happier lives and to
narrow the gap in healthy life expectancy between those living in our most deprived
communities and those in more affluent areas.
The CCG’s strategic objectives are closely linked to the four key outcomes of the
Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Board, ensuring we contribute directly to the delivery of
the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
Its four key aims are:
(i) for every child in Suffolk to have the best possible start in life
(ii) to improve independent life for people with physical and learning disabilities
(iii) for older people to enjoy a good quality of life; and
(iv) for people to have the opportunity to improve their mental health and
wellbeing.
The CCG works alongside health and social care commissioners and other statutory
providers as key members of the Suffolk Joint Commissioning Group for Mental
Health and Learning Disabilities and the Children’s Joint Commissioning Group. Both
report to SHWB.
The key focus for the Health and Wellbeing Board in 2017/18 has been Mental
Health, in line with the Director of Public Health's Annual Report. The Health and
Wellbeing Board has overseen and been consulted on the development and launch
of the Children's Emotional Wellbeing hub, commissioned by the Suffolk CCGs and
Suffolk County Council, which provides a unique multi-disciplinary approach to
supporting young people's mental health. In addition, the Health and Wellbeing
Board has supported the launch of a major review of mental health services in
Suffolk, led by the Suffolk CCGs in partnership with alliance members in Suffolk. In
addition, the Suffolk CCGs have provided regular reports to the Health and
Wellbeing Board on winter resilience and integrated care, as well as the progress of
the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership.
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NATIONAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES - 2017/18 - IPSWICH AND EAST SUFFOLK CCG (1/2)

Description

Current
Period

CCG is aiming to
(> exceed target, <
Current
Current
achieve levels
Period Target Period Actual
below the target, =
achieve zero)

Full Year
Target

Full Year
Achievement
(Green =
achieved, Red =
failed)

Data relates to:

Enhancing quality of life for people with long term conditions
Number of unplanned hospitilsation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions

Mar-18

<

279

246

3,176

2583

Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust

Number of unplanned hospitilsation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in under 19s

Mar-18

<

20

16

219

216

Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust

n/a

>

67%

66.9%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Emergency Admissions for acute conditions that should not usually require hospital admission (IC2.3)

Mar-18

<

481

444

4,785

4,654

Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust

Emergency Admission for children with Lower Respiratory Tract Infections(IC2.4)

Mar-18

<

13

25

364

415

Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust

Healthcare acquired infection (HCAI) measure (MRSA)

Mar-18

=

0

0

0

0

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Healthcare acquired infection (HCAI) measure (clostridium difficile infections)

Mar-18

<

9

10

107

86

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Percentage of Referral to Treatment (RTT) pathways within 18 weeks for completed admitted pathways

Mar-18

>

90%

68.6%

90%

72.2%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Percentage of Referral to Treatment (RTT) pathways within 18 weeks for completed non-admitted pathways

Mar-18

>

95%

89.6%

95%

91.7%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Percentage of Referral to Treatment (RTT) pathways within 18 weeks for incomplete pathways

Mar-18

>

92%

89.9%

92%

91.2%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Number of 52 week Referral to Treatment Pathways

Mar-18

=

0

3

0

77

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Mar-18

<

1%

2.0%

1%

2.3%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

A&E waiting time - percentage of patients for which total time in the A&E department was less than 4 hours

Mar-18

>

95%

87.9%

95%

91.0%

Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust

Number of trolley waits in A&E

Mar-18

=

0

0

0

0

Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust

Number of Cancelled Operations

Feb-18

=

0

3

0

42

Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust

Number of urgent operations cancelled for a second time

Feb-18

=

0

0

0

20

Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia
Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury

Treating and Caring for People in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm

Referral To Treatment waiting times for non-urgent consultant-led treatment

Diagnostic test waiting times
Percentage of diagnostic tests not completed within 6 weeks
A&E waits

Cancelled Operations
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NATIONAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES - 2017/18 - IPSWICH AND EAST SUFFOLK CCG (2/2)
Description

Current
Period

CCG is aiming to
(> exceed target, <
Current
Current
achieve levels
Period Target Period Actual
below the target, =
achieve zero)

Full Year
Target

Full Year
Achievement
(Green =
achieved,
Red = failed)

Data relates to:

Cancer waits - 2 week wait
All Cancer 2 week waits

Mar-18

>

93%

95.0%

93%

94.7%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Two week wait for breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially suspected)

Mar-18

>

93%

92.99%

93%

90.2%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Cancer day 31 waits: Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment within one month of a cancer diagnosis

Mar-18

>

96%

95.95%

96%

96.4%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Cancer day 31 waits: 31-day standard for subsequent cancer treatments-surgery

Mar-18

>

94%

94.6%

94%

94.8%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Cancer day 31 waits: 31-day standard for subsequent cancer treatments-anti cancer drug regimens

Mar-18

>

98%

100.0%

98%

99.9%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Cancer day 31 waits: 31-day standard for subsequent cancer treatments-radiotherapy

Mar-18

>

94%

98.7%

94%

97.0%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Cancer 62 day waits: Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within two months (62 days) of an
urgent GP referral for suspected cancer

Mar-18

>

85%

79.6%

85%

81.2%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Cancer 62 day waits: Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within 62-days of referral from an
NHS Cancer Screening Service

Mar-18

>

90%

77.8%

90%

88.1%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Cancer 62 day waits: Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within 62-days of a consultant
decision to upgrade their priority status

Mar-18

>

86.6%

86.96%

87.05%

86.7%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients Target is Monthly National Average

Mar-18

=

0

0

0

6

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

C1 Mean Ambulance response time ≤7min

Mar-18

<

7.00

10:19

7.00

9:41

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

C1 90th Centile Ambulance response time ≤15min

Mar-18

<

15.00

19:31

15.00

18:54

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Ambulance clinical quality - Category A 19 minute transportation time

Oct-17

95%

87.5%

95%

87.2%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients New metric which came into force in October 2017

Ambulance handover time - 1) Handover delays over 30 minutes

Mar-18

=

0

197

0

2455

Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust

Ambulance handover time - 1) Handover delays over 1 hour

Mar-18

=

0

58

0

698

Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) Roll Out

Mar-18

>

1.25%

2.0%

15.00%

21.5%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

IAPT Recovery Rate

Mar-18

>

50%

46.7%

50%

49.9%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Mental Health Measure – Care Programme Approach (CPA)

Mar-18

>

95%

97.1%

95%

96.0%

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG patients

Cancer waits - 31 days

Cancer waits - 62 days

Mixed Sex Accommodation
Mixed Sex Accommodation (MSA) Breaches
Category A ambulance calls

Mental Health
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Performance Analysis
National Performance Measures 2017/18
The national performance measures shown above are taken from the NHS
Outcomes framework and NHS Constitutional standards. Performance against
these indicators is reviewed monthly at the CCG Governing Body and Clinical
Scrutiny committees as part of our Integrated Performance Report. An overview of
performance in 2017/18 is provided below:
Hospital Acquired Infections
Levels of MRSA and Cdifficile remained within the ceiling target levels during the
year, with zero cases of MRSA.
18 week Referral to Treatment Times
Performance on these indicators of waiting times has deteriorated during the year, in
line with much of the NHS. The national pause of planned activity to free up capacity
during Winter inevitably increased the numbers on the waiting list and the average
time taken for patients to be treated. The CCG’s main acute provider, Ipswich
Hospital, has agreed a trajectory to deliver the 18 week targets by June 2018.
Accident and Emergency Performance
Performance of above 90% was achieved for the year. The CCG is working with our
main provider on delivery of an action plan and improvement trajectory to improve
overall performance levels to achieve the 95% target by end of 2018/19.
Diagnostic Test Waiting Times
Performance in this area was reduced at certain times during the second half of the
year due to locum consultant availability. A review of workload and new pathways
for these tests are being considered to maximise the available consultant capacity.
Cancer Waiting Times
There are a number of indicators used to measure performance on cancer waits,
which in the main have been achieved or were failed marginally during the year.
Pathways for 62 day cancer waits may include treatment at a specialist provider,
making the overall target more difficult to achieve. The CCG is working with
providers to improve overall performance levels and working with GPs to ensure
patients referred on a 2 week wait pathway are available to attend appointment.
Ambulance Performance
National performance measures for ambulance response times were changed from
October 2017. Prior to October, performance was measured for the highest acuity
patients against a target of achieving an eight minute response time for different
categories of ambulance journeys over 75% of the time. The new measures replace
these with the mean response time (target 7 minutes) and 90 th percentile response
time (target 15 minutes), meaning every response time ‘counts’ towards target
achievement. Performance against the new measures is shown in the table.

Performance Analysis
Environmental and Social Sustainability Report
Following funding increases over the past two years, commissioners have committed
significant additional investment into the Ambulance service over the next two years
to increase both staffing and ambulance vehicle levels.
The CCG is committed to sustainability, both as an organisation in its own right and
as a commissioner of services. Sustainable development requires us to be mindful of
the need to look after the environment and the social consequences of our decisions
and actions. We contribute positively to the local economy and community wherever
possible, aim to reduce waste and energy consumption, and seek to minimise any
negative impact we might make on the environment. We have dedicated a
considerable amount of time during 2017/18 to working with colleagues from
different health and care organisations for the benefit of patients and their families.
Transport
As tenants of Endeavour House in Ipswich the CCG is part of Suffolk County
Council’s Green Travel Plan (GTP), which aims to maximise staff use of public
transport.
CCG employees based at both Endeavour House and Landmark House are eligible
for the benefits of the GTP, which provides a range of benefits for that enables many
colleagues to avoid the need to drive into central Ipswich. These include:




half price bus travel to and from work with the Ipswich, Beestons, Galloways,
First and Simonds bus companies
half price train travel to and from work, and
free use of the Ipswich ‘Park & Ride’ facilities at Martlesham and London
Road (Copdock) until at least the end of December 2018.

Charging facilities for electric cars and parking facilities for motorcycles and cycles
are available at both locations, with disabled parking bays and dedicated bays for
motorists who car share. There are secure covered areas for cycle parking near to
the building that are well lit and covered by CCTV cameras. There are also changing
areas and showers within the building and lockers that cyclists and walkers can use
to store cycle equipment and wet weather clothing if needed.
There is no car parking charge for fully electric cars as long as the vehicle's official
DVLA CO2 emissions figure is less than 15g/km. Pool cars are available for the use
of all staff, including an electric pool car.
Procurement
The CCG’s procurement policy was reviewed and updated in 2017 with input from
local residents. The new policy emphasises the benefits of the Social Value Act,
promotes tax compliance and encourages patient and public involvement in our
procurement process.
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Performance Analysis
Environmental and Social Sustainability Report continued
Facilities Management and Energy Consumption
The CCG shares its headquarters at Endeavour House with Suffolk County Council,
the Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust and Babergh and Mid Suffolk district
councils. It is a purpose-built five-storey building providing 11,000 square metres of
‘open plan’ office space along with conference and meeting rooms, public access
areas, a democratic space/council chamber and a staff canteen and café.
The building has some energy efficient features including 50,000 photovoltaic cells
incorporated into the glass curtain walls. At times of peak sunlight these provide 57%
of the building’s energy demand. There are also reservoirs under the building that
enable rainwater to be collected and pumped around the building for use in the
toilets. Endeavour House also has computer controlled lighting and heating systems.
Human Resources
The CCG supports remote working for all eligible staff, enabling peripatetic and
outreach workers such as medicines management technicians to work out of GP
practices as close to their homes as possible and reduce transport costs.
ICT and Informatics
The Information and Communications Technology (ICT) team delivers infrastructure,
support services and information sharing processes.
The CCG is working more closely than ever before with other health and care teams
and patient groups to support joined up care. This approach means we can:
• increase awareness of information sharing for patients, including the need for
patients to ‘make a decision’ around sharing their records with health and care
professionals directly involved in their care
• continue to work with our providers by using available patient information such
as the Summary Care Record and expand it to include end of life information
where applicable
• support our colleagues to deliver safe, high quality and sustainable services
regardless of location, organisation or care setting by providing the technology to
support new ways of working, improving our network speeds and security to help
clinicians to access information swiftly and safely, and
• work with new technologies to support patient access to services and improve
health and wellbeing in our communities - some of the initiatives we are currently
supporting include patient access to online medical records and repeat
prescriptions, the ability of practices to send prescriptions electronically to
pharmacies and new online consultation and signposting technologies to support
patient access to GP services.
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Performance Analysis
Environmental and Social Sustainability Report continued

Adaptation to climate change
The CCG has developed emergency response plans and procedures to address
climate change and worked to raise awareness among its workforce in preparation
for dealing with climate change related incidents.
Social sustainability
Improving the health of those most in need and promoting self-care are two of the
CCG’s clinical priorities. Social sustainability is taken into account in our planning
and we have started working closely this year with the local county and borough
councils to make this more effective. During the year we have encouraged and
supported patient participation groups to share best practice. Our Communications
and Engagement Team and the volunteers from our Community Engagement
Partnership continue to make and maintain contacts with the communities we serve.
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Performance Analysis
Equality and Diversity Report

While we are confident the NHS services we commission are fair and accessible to
all, a person’s gender, age, race, disability, sexual orientation and religious beliefs
will be a factor in their care.
In line with the Equality Act 2012 we use the national Equality Delivery System
(EDS2) to ensure that we and our providers deliver better outcomes for the people of
Suffolk. This obliges us to make effective use of accurate data, communicate with
our local population and to provide consistency and leadership in our equality
agenda.
This work is led by the CCG’s lay member for patient and public involvement with
support from the Community Engagement Partnership, a sub-committee of the board
drawn from members of the public.
This year plans for a joint event in 2017/18 have been overseen by Suffolk health
care providers including the West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (WSFT), the Norfolk
and Suffolk Foundation Trust (NSFT), the East of England Ambulance Service Trust
(EEAST) and Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust (IHT). During this event patient
representatives will be asked to score the partners on their achievements.
Objective 1
Patients and carers experience joined-up healthcare, ensuring access to the
right services at the right time.
Score: Achieving
Partnership working in several areas is paying dividends. The Connect project now
has teams working in 13 areas across Suffolk. The pilot scheme has seen police,
social care and healthcare teams finding new ways to work together so that patients
and carers get simpler access to care. More can be found here:
http://www.connectsuffolk.co.uk/
Objective 2
The CCG will improve use of equality data and information about Suffolk’s
diverse population and communities to inform its work.
Score: Developing
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Performance Analysis
Equality and Diversity Report continued
The CCG has a clear idea of which populations live and work in our area. Economic
migrants are a key focus for engagement in our Communications and Engagement
Strategy. All GP practices have been given IT support tools to enable them to deliver
services in line with the Information Access Standard.
All of the CCG’s published materials are available to order in braille and ‘easy read’
(large print) on request. Visitors to our website can enlarge print, change language
and change colour schemes for ease of reading.

Objective 3
The CCG will improve the way that the Governing Body and Clinical Executive
can learn from the healthcare experiences of diverse and marginalised
individuals, groups and carers.
Score: Developing
Patient stories are heard at every Governing Body meeting. One of the stories which
had the most impact came from a mental health service user who talked about her
experience of autism services, which have helped inform some of the Transforming
Care work being led by the Chief Nursing Officer.
Work continues to provide support for the health and emotional wellbeing of young
people. A strategy has been co-produced using direct input from children and young
people and has led to the development of a 24/7 helpline.

Objective 4
Senior leaders and other managers will provide leadership, support and
motivation for their staff to uphold the CCG’s value of equality of opportunity
to improve the health of those most in need.
Score: Achieving
All staff completed equality and diversity training and have equality and diversity
objectives in their Personal Development Plans.
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Performance Analysis
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR)

Each September the CCG is required to participate in an annual Emergency
Preparedness, Resilience and Response [EPRR] assurance process against ‘core
standards’, through both peer review and subsequent sign off by the Local Health
Resilience Partnership and the CCG’s own Governing Body. This is the means by
which NHS England obtains assurance that NHS funded organisations are
sufficiently able to respond to emergencies.
For 2017/18 the CCG was assessed as ‘fully compliant’.

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
22 May 2018
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Performance Analysis
Clinical Executive GPs

Dr David Egan – Lead for prescribing, MSK, ophthalmology
and nephrology

Dr John Oates – Lead for emergency/integrated care and
dementia

Dr John Flather – Lead for end of life, care homes and
diabetes

Dr Christopher Rufford – Lead for self-care and prevention

Dr Peter Holloway – Lead for planned care, cancer and
respiratory

Dr Ben Solway – Lead for children and young people,
safeguarding, alcohol and substance abuse and marginalised
and vulnerable adults (MVAs)

Dr Juno Jesuthasan – Lead for map of medicine,
communications and website, IT and strategy, training and
education and black & ethnic minorities
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Case Studies

Dementia Together and Children’s Emotional
Wellbeing Plan
The CCG is committed to co-production when designing new services and worked
closely with the Suffolk User Forum and Suffolk Parent Carers Network on these two
projects to make sure we understood the views and needs of service users.

Dementia Together
The CCG continues to support and promote the early diagnosis of dementia and to
ensure patients with the disease are recorded on GP registers. We are also working
to establish more ‘Dementia Friendly Practices’ across our area.
The Dementia Together service to support people concerned about or living with
dementia, their carers and professionals, was launched in April 2017 and has so far
supported more than 1,000 people. It offers a single point of contact so that people
only have to tell their story once, and works together with local community services to
provide co-ordinated, responsive support for individuals at every step of the way –
whether that’s general information about dementia, connecting them with others who
understand, or planning for the future.
The service was developed after consultations with service users, carers and service
providers via a series of workshops, and in response to concerns that it was hard to
understand and navigate support and advice services.

“I have quite a file of
leaflets but I don’t know
where to start” - Client,
55yrs.

“I’d like one point of
contact and they will sort
things out for me” Client, 80yrs.

.

49. NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Case Studies continued

“Prior to the launch of the Dementia Together service, the memory assessment
service was making referrals and signposting families to a multitude of different
agencies. This was not only time consuming, but also made pathways difficult
for service users, their families and carers to navigate.
“Now there is just one phone number for everyone and Dementia Together
makes the necessary referrals to other services, enabling our practitioners to
refocus on our core business. We can now provide some much needed postdiagnostic psychological support for some of our service users” - NSFT Clinical
Team Leader.

“I was heading toward a
crisis but I now feel able
to cope” - Carer

“After my diagnosis we were
both feeling very anxious. We
had been through a lengthy
and difficult process, then it
suddenly felt like we were just
left to get on with it. Lisa has
given us the confidence to
cope with the situation we find
ourselves in knowing that
there will always be help and
advice when it is needed,
especially before a crisis
occurs. I now feel able to
manage the condition and
almost forget about it until a
little hiccup brings it back to
mind” - Service user
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Case Studies continued

Suffolk Children’s Transformation Plan
Emotional Wellbeing Hub
We have been working in co-production to develop a multi-agency Emotional
Wellbeing Hub for all referrals into children’s emotional wellbeing services. The vision
for our hub is that all children, young people (aged from 0-25yrs) and families can
access the appropriate help, information or advice when they need it.
Working in co-production with our partners, Suffolk Parent Carer Network and young
people, the key principles of the hub are:
•
•
•
•
•

to provide timely, effective help for all children and young people and their
families
to adopt a ‘no wrong door’ approach so callers aren’t immediately ‘bounced’
elsewhere
to avoid service users having to re-tell their story again and again
to be consistent and responsive, and
to support young people to access the services they need

From April 2018, the Emotional Wellbeing Hub will triage and respond to telephone
and web-based contacts and referrals received from families, young people and
practitioners.
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Case Studies continued
Stroke Service
The radical turnaround of stroke services across the NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk
and NHS West Suffolk CCG areas was recognised with a national award in July
2017.
The CCGs scooped the Healthcare
Transformation Award for Innovation in
Improving Outcomes and Reducing
Variation at the Health Service Journal
Awards.
The award highlighted the transformation of
stroke services over the past four years,
with Suffolk now having the lowest level of
premature stroke mortality in the country
when compared to similar areas.

Over 1,000 people in Suffolk suffer a stroke each year. Now every stroke patient has
access to a consultant stroke specialist and rehabilitation team within 24 hours,
seven days a week. Care does not stop at the hospital door, with patients being able
to access services after they have been discharged. These rehabilitation services
include speech and language therapy, physiotherapy and clinical psychology.

“This award recognises the hard work of local staff and partners in
delivering stroke care services that are nationally regarded as being among
the best in the country.
“In 2013, when the CCGs became responsible for commissioning most local
health services, improving stroke care services was a priority. This has
been achieved. We now have dedicated stroke units at the Ipswich and West
Suffolk hospitals offering round-the-clock care and a range of community
services that help people return home as quickly as possible and give them
and their carers the support they need. This is an achievement of which I
am immensely proud.”
Dr Mark Shenton, Chairman, NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical
Commissioning Group.
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Case Studies continued

"This is a great achievement and shows what
strong positive partnerships can achieve"
- Neill Moloney, managing director of Ipswich
Hospital NHS Trust

Along with our STP partners at NHS North East Essex CCG, we are working with our
regional partners to improve the patient pathway for stroke victims, particularly
around the introduction of thrombectomy services and consideration of the possible
use of new technologies such as mobile scanning and telemedicine.
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Case Studies continued
Record Sharing
Patients have had the option of sharing their records with other health and care
professionals since 2012. The CCG has been working with patients and providers
throughout 2017/18 to increase the number of people consenting to share their GP
records, a decision which can ultimately save lives. As well as saving time for health
and care professionals when treating patients, consenting to share their records
stops patients from having to constantly repeat their details when information is
requested from them.
There are different record sharing options for the public to consider, and
communicating this in an open and transparent way is recognised nationally as being
difficult:
Summary Care Record (SCR) – Core
Every patient was ‘opted in’ to the SCR about five years ago following a national
public awareness campaign. This level of sharing only gives professionals access to
allergies and medications. Patients have the option to add additional information to
the SCR Core such as end of life information, diagnosis, vaccinations etc. This is
called the Summary Care record with additional information (SCRai).
Primary Care Whole Patient Record
The existing consent form was confusing for patients as it only covered sharing of
their whole record. Patients wanted specific questions answered and for the
information to be presented in plain English. Working with patients and all 64 GP
practices in east and west Suffolk led to one form covering both SCRai and the
Whole Patient Record. Easy read and foreign language versions of the form have
also been produced.
Following a major publicity campaign 37% of
patients across Suffolk have now consented
to share, compared to 27% at the end of
2015. Patient participation groups (PPGs)
were visited in order to explain the
importance of patients giving their consent.
They provided support by attending practice
flu clinics and waiting rooms to spread the
message. The CCG’s Community
Engagement Partnership has helped to staff
event stands. Social media with the hashtag
#sharingsaveslives has also helped.
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Case Studies continued
The CCG’s web pages have been re-designed for ease of reading and to signpost
the public and GP practice staff to further information, if required. Text has also been
produced for individual GP practice websites, ensuring a consistent message.
As well as the consent form, a video created by NHS England, ‘Happy to Share’, was
made available to GP practices for use on their waiting room screens, on websites
and via social media.
Community Healthcare staff across east and west Suffolk support practices by
collecting consent forms from patients and returning them to GP surgeries. They are
happy to do this as a patient who has not consented to share their record can take
up to an hour longer to assess than one who has. The average assessment time for
a consenting patient is 20 minutes.
The Voluntary and Statutory Partnership (VASP), Suffolk County Council and
Healthwatch Suffolk have also been supportive of this work in a similar manner.
More events are planned, as well as additional materials for GP practices to display
in waiting rooms.

“A recent initiative at the Eye Health Centre
to inform patients of the benefits of
sharing their health records with other
health professionals was a real eye opener.
The majority were unaware that they had to
give express permission for their records
to be accessed. Most thanked us for
providing them with the opportunity to be
entered on the register” - PPG Member.
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Case Studies continued
Felixstowe ‘on the day’ hub
Three GP practices in Felixstowe have been working together to provide a single ‘on
the day’ service to ensure high quality local care within safe workload limits.
The service runs from 3pm to 6.30pm, Monday to Friday, at
the local community hospital. Each practice staffs the
service on a rota basis and the rota changes every three
months to ensure a fair share of the busiest days - Monday
and Friday.
The ‘on the day’ team is staffed by a GP and a nurse from
a single practice. Patients who call their own surgery after
3pm are triaged using an agreed protocol and if
a telephone or face to face appointment is needed it is
provided by the ‘on the day’ team at the hospital site.
However, some calls of a certain nature, such as end of life or prescription queries
are still dealt with by the patient’s own surgery. If necessary the ‘on the day’ service
can arrange further investigations or hospital referrals. Important issues are referred
back to the patient’s registered practice via safe messaging or ‘tasking’.
Responsibility for patient care sits with the practice whose staff are providing the ‘on
the day’ duty service. Patient feedback has generally been very positive.
The practices involved in providing the service are able to use the final hours of their
duty shift to ensure that all other work is safely completed and staff are well prepared
for the next session. After 6.30pm cover is provided by the GP+ service and the
Minor Injuries Unit.
"This service exemplifies the positive essence of
partnership working and has received very
positive feedback from patients and the
practices themselves. It shows what
collaborative working can produce when likeminded practices work together, while ensuring
our main aim of providing a safe,
accessible, reliable and effective service for our
patients is achieved."
Dr Imaad Khalid, GP
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Case Studies continued
Continuing Health Care
“The Continuing Healthcare (CHC) team has continued to build on the
successes of the last two years to provide an exemplary service to our
patients.
“Working with health and social care partners the team has introduced the
‘Discharge to Assess’ initiative so that patients can be assessed outside of a
hospital setting, shortening inpatient stays and providing more accurate
assessment of needs. Fast Track applications are now validated within four
hours.
“Dedicated social workers are aligned to the team which has shortened the
time needed for patients to be assessed and improved the reassessment
process. Overall patients now get a faster, more tailored service with care and
efficiency.”
Dr Imran Qureshi, Governing Body GP and Chair of the IESCCG Clinical Executive.

“Now that my husband is in the safe care of the
nursing home, we feel we must thank you for all
that you have done to enable that to happen. The
involvement of the CHC team with all the input and
sensitive back-up we have received made it
possible for us to look after him for as long as we
did. Your measured and empathetic responses,
both verbal and practical, have been so reassuring
and given us the confidence to deal with all of the
issues we have had to encounter. Our sincere
thanks for all your help and kindness to us as a
family” - Patient’s wife.
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Case Studies continued

Feedback from relatives have included:






The daughter of a patient phoning to thank the commissioning and
case management team for their work and input in sourcing care and
support for keeping her mother at home for end of life care, which was
her wish
The son of a patient who sadly passed away phoning to thank the
whole team for all the ongoing support we given to them and their
father.
The son of a patient emailing to say: “May I take this opportunity to
thank you and the CHC team for the support which was an enormous
help to my family in the last months of mum’s life”.
The son of a patient who emailed to say: “My father died yesterday. On
his behalf I wish to thank you and the NHS for all of the help and care
that you made available to him.”

58. NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Case Studies continued
Community Education Provider Network
Suffolk has established a Community Education
Provider Network (CEPN) to recruit, retain and
train its primary care workforce.
The network has a wide range of stakeholders
including GPs, nurses, practice managers, lay
members, the Local Medical Committee, the
Suffolk GP Federation, health and social care
organisations and education providers.
The aim is to work collaboratively in three key
areas:






Recruitment
We are working together to encourage young people to pursue a career in
health and social care. We are engaging with local schools and colleges to
talk to young people about the opportunities that primary care can offer them
in terms of employment and training. We are supporting international
recruitment.
Retention
We explore all options to encourage staff to continue working in the NHS and
to develop career opportunities. We have supported the Suffolk GP Locum
Chambers and development of GP Flex.
Training
We provide access to education and training programmes that support
primary care staff in both clinical and non-clinical roles to deliver high quality
patient care. This includes nationally recognised academic courses, the
revalidation of clinical skills and personal development. We have continued
our monthly training and education support for GPs and expanded this to
include a wide range of other clinicians.

Funding
The CEPN has been successful in bidding for funding to: recruit GPs internationally to work in Suffolk
 develop a Nursing Apprenticeship Programme
 deliver clinical skills training for existing staff
 deliver training to practice managers, and
 deliver training to GP Trainees.
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Case Studies continued

The CEPN exists to ensure that Suffolk has a skilled primary care workforce which
can deliver high quality patient care.

“The CEPN is a fantastic platform which supports the current primary care
workforce and encourages innovative roles to be developed. For the last 12
months, it has worked extremely hard to attract recruits to the primary care work
force in Suffolk. It has a multi-disciplinary approach and has actively supported
the development of new roles, such as physician associates, practice
pharmacists and practice paramedics. The CEPN has also worked to equip nonclinical staff with new skills to support the primary care workforce. The aim of
the CEPN is to plan for the future so primary care in Suffolk can flourish and is
resilient with a locally trained and established work force.”
Dr Ayesha Tu-Zahra, Governing Body GP.
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Case Studies continued
LD nurses case study
NSFT’s Learning Disability Primary Care
Liaison Nurses have been working with GP
practices across the county for two years. Their
role is to advise and support practices around
the needs of adults with learning disabilities
through awareness raising and targeted
training. They have worked closely with practice
staff to support the development of learning
disability registers, annual health checks and
health action planning, as well as supporting
practices with individuals who may have
additional, complex needs. By the end of
2016/17 the numbers of annual health checks
undertaken by practices in Ipswich and east
Suffolk had increased by 12% on the previous
year due to the strong relationships that have
developed between the nurses and the
practices. It is hoped this positive trend will
continue. The nurses will spend 2018/19 visiting
every GP practice to provide in-house training
sessions to further develop practice confidence.

“Our nurses act as champions for

people with learning disabilities and
their families. They undertake a range
of activities to promote better health
for people with learning disabilities by
advising, teaching and supporting
individuals, their families and other
professionals to enable people to live
full and rewarding lives in our
community.
“Annual health checks have increased
with the proactive intervention of the
nurses, visiting and encouraging (at
times escorting) patients, providing
that shoulder to lean on and the
supportive, encouraging and friendly
face of their own health care
professional!”
Dr Ben Solway - CCG lead for Learning
Disabilities.

http://www.eadt.co.uk/news/specialist-learning-disability-nurses-now-havepermanent-place-in-suffolk-gp-surgeries-after-successful-pilot-1-5071300
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Motor Neurone Disease (MND)
A Regional Care Development Adviser from the Motor Neurone Disease
Association (MNDA) brought a patient with the condition and his wife to one of
the CCG’s Governing Body meetings to talk about MND and his experiences
with local health services. MND is a rapidly progressive disease which attacks
nerves and movement, resulting in muscle wasting and progressive patient
disability.
The patient told how his early symptoms had been twitching in his thigh and
upper arm muscles. These were initially attributed to his age and it took two
years for an exact diagnosis to be made, after numerous investigations and
visits to neurology outpatient appointments. After diagnosis there was no
follow-up offer of holistic help for weeks and he had to access online
information and support himself. Most support since his diagnosis had been
provided by his hospice, which organised home adaptations and equipment.
The patient’s experience highlighted the lack of a Neurology Coordinator to
provide support, especially for those in rural areas. Since then the CCG has
been able to secure funding for the role and has worked jointly with St
Elizabeth Hospice, Ipswich Hospital and the MNDA in developing the post.
The post will be based at the hospice and will provide information, care and
support to patients and their families in the community, acting as a point of
contact for them as well as for health care professionals.
“The patient’s story was particularly emotive and
highlighted the delay in diagnosis these patients were
suffering and the unfortunate lack of local services
available for MND patients as they came to terms with their
disease. It was particularly pleasing that we could identify
funds to appoint an MND co-ordinator to help provide this
help.”
Dr David Egan, Clinical Executive GP.
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Pancreatic Cancer
Pancreatic Cancer often does not display any signs or symptoms in its early
stages, which can make it hard to diagnose. Only five per cent of patients
diagnosed with advanced pancreatic cancer in the UK survive for five years.
The CCG has a number of initiatives aimed at supporting the early diagnosis of
cancer. Diagnosing cancers where the symptoms are less cut and dry is
particularly challenging and as a result the CCG has set up, in partnership with
Macmillan, the Macmillan Ipswich Diagnostic and Assessment Service
(MIDAS). The aim of the service is to develop the shortest and safest route to
cancer diagnosis for patients with non-specific, vague symptoms through fast
track access to diagnostic tests. GPs are provided with clear guidance as to
which patients are suitable for the service. Referrals are then assessed by a
diagnostic practitioner with support from either a consultant or GP with special
interest, before suitable tests are ordered and tracked with the aim of giving the
patient a definitive diagnosis within 28 days. This is in line with the new target
outlined in the National Cancer Strategy, which seeks to either confirm or rule
out cancer for patients within 28 days of referral from their GP.

Highlighting the importance of the service, Dr Pete Holloway, the CCG’s
clinical lead for cancer, said: "Initiatives such as the MIDAS clinic and
improving direct access to diagnostic tests for GPs are crucial to
diagnosing cancer earlier. We are also working to increase cancer
awareness with our practices to ensure prompt referral, increasing
detection rates and reducing the number of cancers diagnosed as
an emergency, so improving outcomes for patients."
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A ‘Patient’s Story’ was shared with the CCG’s Governing Body
“My story is very typical of those diagnosed with pancreatic cancer (PC),
but unlike most people I survived. I was able to have surgery at Ipswich
Hospital where the surgical and critical care teams saved my life on
several occasions. Due to numerous complications I spent nearly six
months in hospital and took two years to recover. I am very lucky, and as
Chair of the Board of Trustees of Pancreatic Cancer UK I am now working
on behalf of all those affected by the disease to improve early diagnosis,
care and research into this awful cancer.
“In this CCG in 2015 there were approximately 77 people diagnosed with
pancreatic cancer, 65 of who died within a year. The five-year survival
rate is 7%. Typical of pancreatic cancer patients, I saw my GP more times
in the 12 months leading up to diagnosis than in the previous 10 years.
Like 44% of PC patients, I was diagnosed at A&E. The challenge of PC is
that symptoms mirror those of other diseases and can be rather nonspecific. Because GPs see a PC case on average once every five years, it
is not the first thing they think of. Pancreatic Cancer UK together with
Macmillan has produced a ‘Top Ten Tips’ for primary care clinicians
about the diagnosing of PC. Patients and their experiences really do need
to be at the heart of things and layers of decision-making reduced so that
tests and diagnostics are available at the appropriate level in the system.
Information for patients is crucial too and on the PCUK website
(www.pancreaticcancer.org.uk) people can find a helpful range of
publications in plain English.
“Things are starting to improve as public awareness grows, but a recent
survey by my charity reminded us that few people know the symptoms.
PC receives just 2% of cancer research funding but is one of the biggest
killers. The National Institute for Health & Care Excellence guidelines for
PC were published in early February 2018 and at last we have a statement
of national standards for diagnosis and treatment – a big step forward.
Hope is crucial.”
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Cataract Service
Case Study provided by a local patient:
“This is my experience of the system that recognises cataracts and determines when
treatment should be given.
“My problem related to night driving and the dangers I was feeling because of my
inability to see clearly at night. I consulted my optometrist, believing I needed a new
prescription for my spectacles. I was quite shocked to learn that I had cataracts, and
that whilst they were causing my problem, they were not severe enough to warrant
early action through surgery.
“As I needed to drive at night to continue my duties with the charities for which I
provide voluntary support, I studied Suffolk’s policy document and noted that there
was a ‘Lifestyle’ category that could be taken into account when determining the
need for early treatment. On the advice of the CCG, I contacted my optometrist to
make another appointment that would take account of my ‘Lifestyle’ reasons for
seeking a re-assessment of the timeframe for treatment. I was shocked to meet with
refusal to re-assess my condition, as the optometrist was not prepared to accept
‘Lifestyle’ as a valid reason.
“I reported this to the CCG, believing that all my charity work would have to cease.
However the CCG said they had a pilot study underway to which they could
introduce me, thereby bypassing the optometrist. I was given an appointment with Mr
Simon Hardman-Lea who examined my eyes and said that although my cataracts
might not be seen as sufficiently large to warrant early action, they were much
denser than usual and that meant they qualified for early treatment and that he
would refer me accordingly.
“They were soon dealt with by the NHS. My night vision was restored and my charity
work was able to continue. I thank my good fortune that the pilot study had given me
this result, but also the CCG for setting me on the path to a beneficial outcome.
“I have continued to co-operate with the CCG as a reflection of my gratitude and am
very happy to continue that co-operation through my feedback to them, even to the
point of assisting the procurement for a partner organisation that will enable the
streamlining of services for the future.”
“This positive real life patient story shows how successful the community ophthalmology clinics
staffed by highly trained optometrists and consultant ophthalmologists have been, and how
they can ensure that eye problems are assessed quickly and referred to the hospital when
needed. They also ensure that waiting times for eye care are minimised for all patients in
Ipswich and east Suffolk.”
Dr David Egan, Clinical Executive GP
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Section 2
The Accountability Report
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Member Practices Report
In partnership with member practices the CCG has developed a strategy to guide the
development of primary care.
The key elements of the strategy include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

developing a new Model of Care to encourage primary care partnership
working and deliver joined up care across Suffolk
reducing workload and optimising patient care
caring for every professional and every patient
improving patient access to GP-led services to support patients and
promote self-care
creating environments for future care needs by enabling digital
connectivity for patients and professionals
stimulating transformation by delivering high impact changes, and
co-producing strategy and plans with clinical leaders, patients, members of
the public and our partners to enable excellence in delivery with
management support.

This strategy has been further developed through our GP Forward View Operational
Plan, which NHS England has rated as “green”.
Every year the CCG takes part in a national ‘360 stakeholder survey’ which is run by
IPSOS Mori. The survey helps the CCG develop internally and improve its
relationships with others. Some 83% of GP members responded to the survey.
Of those stakeholders who responded:
83% felt that there was clear and visible leadership within the CCG
90% reported a good working relationship with the CCG
79% reported that they had confidence in the leadership of the CCG to deliver its
plans and priorities, up 19% on the previous year
79% felt that they had confidence in the CCG’s plans to deliver high quality services
that demonstrate value for money
79% reported that they had confidence in the leadership of the CCG to deliver
improved outcomes for patients, up 26% on the previous year
71% knew of the CCG’s plans and priorities and 67% said they had been given the
opportunity to influence them
88% said that if they had concerns about the quality of local services they would feel
able to raise their concerns with the CCG.
For the first time this year the survey contained questions around new key
areas. These included how the CCG involved patients and public in their work and
how the leadership of the CCG was contributing effectively to local partnership
arrangements, including sustainability transformation partnerships (STPs) and
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Member Practices Report continued
integrated care systems. It was encouraging to see that 81% felt that the CCG had
involved patients and public and that 73% of the respondents felt that the CCG was
contributing effectively to local partnership arrangements.
The results of the 2017/18 survey are very encouraging. We recognised that we
needed to do more following last year’s survey, and as a result we have improved in
the majority of areas asked.
Our specific focus this year will be on involving patients and members of the public
more when making commissioning decisions and ensuring that the leadership of the
CCG has the necessary blend of skills and experience to take forward the work with
the alliances.

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
22 May 2018
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List of Member Practices

This section sets out details of the member practices of the CCG, together with the
composition of each of the Membership Bodies.
Alderton, Peninsula Practice

Hadleigh Boxford Group

Barham and Claydon

Haven Health

Barrack Lane

Hawthorn Drive

Bildeston Health Centre

Holbrook and Shotley

Birches Medical Centre

Howard House

Burlington Road Surgery

Ivry Street

Chesterfield Drive

Ixworth Surgery

Church Farm Surgery

Leiston Surgery

Combs Ford Surgery

Little St Johns Street

Constable Country

Martlesham Surgery

Deben Road Surgery

Mendlesham Health

Debenham Group

Needham Market Country

Derby Road Practice

Norwich Road Surgery

Dr Solway & Dr Whale

Orchard Medical Practice

Eye Health Centre

Ravenswood

Felixstowe Road

Saxmundham Health

Framfield House

Stow Health

Framlingham

Two Rivers Medical Centre

Fressingfield

Walton Surgery

Grove Medical Centre

Wickham Market
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Composition of Governing Body
The Governing Body Membership was made up of 11 men and 7 women
Dr Mark Shenton
GP in Stowmarket, Chairman
Dr Mark Shenton, a GP at StowHealth in Stowmarket, is the Chairman
of the Governing Body of NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG and
Clinical Lead. He is the Clinical Lead for ensuring high quality services,
a thread through all of our programmes. Dr Shenton has been involved
with practice-based commissioning since 2005, which has given him a
valuable insight into the process of commissioning services that meet
the needs of local people. He also has experience of working at both
Ipswich and West Suffolk hospitals.
Dr John Hague
GP in Ipswich
Dr John Hague is a GP at Derby Road Practice in Ipswich and he is a
member of the Governing Body and Clinical Executive. He is the clinical
lead for mental health and learning disabilities.

Dr Imaad Khalid
GP in Walton
Dr Imaad Khalid was a GP at Walton Surgery in Felixstowe. Dr Khalid
was raised in Suffolk and returned to the county following medical
training in London and Cambridge. He is a strong believer in breaking
down traditional barriers between providers and aligning goals for the
betterment of the patients he serves. His interests include service
innovation and redesign through co-creation to ensure the highest
quality outcomes.

Dr Michael McCullagh
GP in Ipswich
Dr Michael McCullagh is a GP at Orchard Medical Practice in Ipswich and
has been a GP for 25 years. Dr McCullagh is the lead GP for Finance. His
other related interests include medical education, health economics and
research.
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Composition of Governing Body continued

Dr Billy McKee
GP in Ipswich
Dr Billy McKee has been a GP at The Derby Road Practice in Ipswich
during 2017/18. He is a member of the Governing Body and Clinical
Executive and is the clinical lead for improving stroke services.

Dr Imran Qureshi
GP in Leiston, Clinical Executive Chair
Dr Imran Qureshi is a GP at Leiston Surgery. He is a member of the
Governing Body and Chair of the Clinical Executive. He is the black and
minority ethnic lead for the CCG and also works to improve both planned
and integrated care. Dr Qureshi is the lead governing body member for
sustainability.

Dr Ayesha Tu Zahra
GP in Ipswich
Dr Tu Zahra trained as a GP at West Suffolk Hospital before joining the
Two Rivers Medical Centre in Ipswich in 2013. She joined the CCG
Governing Body in May 2017.
Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer
Dr Ed Garratt is Chief Officer for both the NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk and
NHS West Suffolk clinical commissioning Groups. He was previously
Chief Operating Officer of the NHS West Suffolk CCG and has worked in
the NHS for more than 10 years, both at a regional level in commissioning
and in helping to develop the NHS Constitution. He also worked on the
policy development associated with the Government’s NHS reforms of
2012. Dr Garratt holds a Doctorate from the University of Cambridge.
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Jane Payling
Chief Finance Officer (from September 2017)
Jane is the Chief Finance Officer for both the NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk
and NHS West Suffolk clinical commissioning groups. She previously
worked at CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy)
as Head of Health and Integration. This followed 10 years as Director of
Finance at Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust where Jane was part
of the team which secured the go ahead for the New Papworth
Hospital. She joined the NHS in 1992, and has worked in a variety of NHS
roles across East Anglia.
Chris Hooper
Acting Chief Nurse (From July 2017)
Chris’ career in the NHS started in the early 1980’s initially working as a
porter and health care assistant, qualifying as a Registered Nurse in 1987.
During his nursing career Chris has worked as both a Ward Manager and
Clinical Nurse Specialist in more recent years he has worked in senior
nursing positions covering both elective and emergency care pathways in
acute trusts before moving into a senior commissioning role some four
years ago.
Barbara McLean
Chief Nurse (on secondment from July 2017)
Barbara McLean was Chief Nurse until July 2017, with responsibility for
improving quality and patient experience. A qualified nurse, she has also
served as Chief Executive Officer and Executive Nurse for the Cambridge
and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust and as Director of Nursing for
the Suffolk Mental Health Partnership.
Dr Lorna Kerr
Secondary Care Doctor
Dr Lorna Kerr is the secondary care doctor member of the Governing
Body. Dr Kerr is a full time anaesthetic consultant at the Norfolk and
Norwich Hospital (with a special interest in paediatric and spinal
anaesthesia) since 1993. She has a broad knowledge of secondary care
having been a Clinical Director and Chairman of Consultant Staff
Committee.
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Maddie Baker-Woods
Chief Operating Officer
Maddie Baker-Woods joined NHS Suffolk in 2009 as Head of Corporate
Policy and subsequently as Deputy Director of Primary Care before taking
up the position of Chief Operating Officer for the CCG in April 2013. Prior
to joining the NHS, Maddie spent 10 years working with business and
government on welfare reform as Director of the London Employers
Coalition and Director of Policy for the National Employment Panel. Prior to
this, Maddie was Associate Director for Economic Development of an
international consultancy firm.
Amanda Lyes
Amanda Lyes
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Amanda Lyes is the Chief Corporate Services Officer and has an NHS
career spanning 20 years. Although professionally qualified in human
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Human Resource Management.
Richard Watson
Chief Transformation Officer
Richard Watson joined the CCG in January 2015 as the Chief Redesign
Officer for Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. He has worked across the
NHS and local government in a variety of roles most recently at NHS
Enfield CCG where he led the redesign of clinical services across the
borough. He has also been an elected local councillor and cabinet
member
within a London borough where he led on community safety,
Jane Webster
leisure
and Contracts
libraries. Officer
He is passionate
about2017)
improving outcomes and his
Acting Chief
(From November
strength lays in managing complex service redesign in partnership with
other stakeholders.

Richard Watson
Chief Transformation Officer
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Jane Webster
Acting Chief Contracts Officer (from November 2017)
Jane’s career in the NHS commenced in 1981 when she trained as a
nurse in Norfolk. Jane remained in clinical roles within the NHS
specialising in complex brain injury, later becoming the clinical lead for
continuing care in Norfolk. Her interest in commissioning arose with the
launch of Primary Care Trusts and the development of ‘world class
commissioning’. After completing a masters in commissioning and
contracting, Jane has enjoyed working in both providers and clinical
commissioning groups. Her mantra to counter views that contracting is
technical and complex is - `contracting is easy, you just need to remember
to keep talking`
Graham Leaf
Vice Chair and Audit and Governance Lay Member
Graham Leaf was previously a Non-Executive Director of NHS Suffolk. He
is Vice Chair of the Governing Body and Chair of the Audit Committee and
the Remuneration and Human Resources Committee. His background is
in industrial engineering and business management. He has been
responsible for the overall management, strategic direction and financial
performance of numerous private sector companies since 1991.
.

Pauline Quinn
Lay Member - Patient & Public Involvement
Pauline Quinn has an extensive background of nursing at Ipswich Hospital,
the Royal College of Nursing and the Ombudsman’s Office. Her personal
experiences of community and hospital services have given her a distinctive
perspective on the quality and impact of health care provision in the area.
Pauline has a particular interest in the needs of older people and vulnerable
groups and would like to ensure that they have equal access to healthcare.
As a nurse she was a proponent of partnership working to ensure
maximisation of potential and dignity and that the service user voice is at
the centre of service development.
Steve Chicken
Lay Member
Steve Chicken has held senior roles in a number of global manufacturing
businesses and is a specialist in continuous improvement. He and his
family have lived in Suffolk for 17 years.
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Jan Thomas
Chief Contracts Officer and Deputy Accountable Officer
(On secondment to Cambridge & Peterborough CCG from November 2017)
Jan has over 20 years’ experience working in and with the NHS. Starting
her career as a nurse, she has worked in acute NHS hospitals and held
senior roles in private sector healthcare. Jan is focused on ensuring that
the care received by the people in Suffolk is the best care possible and
that service users are put at the centre of decisions made by the CCGs.

Governing Body Members who have resigned during the year
Chris Armitt
Acting Chief Finance Officer until September 2017
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Key Committees
Clinical Scrutiny Committee
Chris Armitt – Acting CFO until September 2017
Maddie Baker-Woods
Steve Chicken
Dr David Egan
Dr John Flather
Dr Ed Garratt
Dr John Hague
Dr Peter Holloway
Chris Hooper – Acting CNO from July 2017
Dr Juno Jesuthasan
David Kanka
Dr Lorna Kerr
Dr Imaad Khalid
Graham Leaf
Amanda Lyes
Dr Michael McCullagh
Barbara McLean – on secondment from July 2017
Dr William McKee
Dr John Oates
Jane Payling – CFO from September 2017
Pauline Quinn
Dr Imran Qureshi (chair)
Dr Christopher Rufford
Dr Mark Shenton
Dr Ben Solway
Jan Thomas – on secondment November 2017
Dr Ayesha Tu Zahra
Richard Watson
Jane Webster – Acting CCO from November 2017
Commissioning Governance Committee
Chris Armitt – Acting CFO until September 2017
Dr Ed Garratt
Dr Lorna Kerr
Graham Leaf (chair)
Jane Payling – from September 2017
Pauline Quinn
Jan Thomas – on secondment from November 2017
Jane Webster – from November 2017

76. NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Corporate Governance Report – Members’ Report
Key Committees continued
Remuneration and Human Resources (HR) Committee
Graham Leaf
Dr Michael McCullagh
Pauline Quinn (reserve lay member)
Amanda Lyes
Collaborative Group (Committee of West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG)
Bill Banks – until August 2017
Dr Christopher Browning
Geoff Dobson – from September 2017
Dr Ed Garratt
Graham Leaf
Dr Mark Shenton
Martin Smith (independent chair)
Financial Performance Committee
Chris Armitt – Acting CFO until September 2017
Steve Chicken (chair)
Dr Ed Garratt
Graham Leaf (reserve lay member)
Dr Michael McCullagh
Jane Payling – CFO from September 2017
Dr Imran Qureshi
Dr Mark Shenton
Community Engagement Partnership
Anthony Bone
Isabel Cockayne (CCG) – on secondment from January 2018
John Troup (CCG) – from January 2018
Lynda Cooper
Louise Hardwick (CCG) – stepped down 2017
Linda Hoggarth
Mike Hope
Gill Jones (Healthwatch Suffolk)
Alastair McElroy
Jo Marshall (Community Action Suffolk)
Claire Martin
Susie Mills
Gill Orves (IHUG) (co-chair)
Pauline Quinn
Vicky Thompson-Carr (co-chair)
Richard Squirrell
Maddie Baker-Woods (CCG)
Caroline Webb
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Audit Committee
Graham Leaf (chair)
Steve Chicken
Dr Michael McCullagh
The following are in attendance at the Audit Committee:
 Representatives from Finance
 Representatives from External Audit
 Representatives from Internal Audit
 Representatives from Counter Fraud

IESCCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee
Chris Armitt – Acting CFO until September 2017
Maddie Baker-Woods
Steve Chicken
Dr Ed Garratt
Dr Lorna Kerr
Jane Payling – CFO from September 2017
Pauline Quinn (chair)
Jan Thomas – on secondment from November 2017
Jane Webster – from November 2017
The following are in attendance at the Primary Care Commissioning Committee:
 Representative from Healthwatch Suffolk
 Representative from Health and Wellbeing Board
 Representative from the Suffolk Local Medical Committee (LMC)
 Representative from NHS England
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Register of Interests 2017/18
The Register of Interests document can be found on the NHS Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG website HERE

Personal data related incidents
There were no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches, and
therefore none reported to the Information Commissioner.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:


so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the
purposes of their audit report



the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order
to make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to
eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements
for producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the
Modern Slavery Act 2015.
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External Audit and Complaints
External Audit
The CCG’s external auditor is Ernst and Young and the cost of services provided
by them in 2017/18 was £65,628. Work undertaken was purely in the provision of
statutory audit services.

Principles for Remedy
The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman has issued six Principles for
Remedy when handling complaints.
These principles set out for complainants and bodies within the Parliamentary
and Health Ombudsman’s jurisdiction how they think public bodies should put
things right when they have gone wrong - as well as its approach to
recommending remedies.
The Principles for Remedy are:
1. Getting it right.
2. Being customer focused.
3. Being open and accountable.
4. Acting fairly and proportionately.
5. Putting things right.
6. Seeking continuous improvement.
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Patient Advice & Liaison Service (PALS)
Complaints and Compliments
The Patient Experience Team is responsible for the oversight of complaints and
compliments. This includes issues raised by GP practices in the GP contract issues
log as well as issues raised through the PALS.
Between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 the team received a total of 179
complaints, 91 of which related to IESCCG. The CCG’s target response timescale
for responding to complaints is 25 working days. However, in cases where the
timescale cannot be met, a revised timescale is agreed.
Two complaints were received during 2017/18 that were referred to the
Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman.
There were 41 letters received from MPs relating to both CCGs, 21 of which related
to IESCCG.
PALS
PALS provides information and advice on NHS services, non-emergency hospital
transport and community health services within Suffolk.
The main aim of PALS is to resolve problems and concerns for people using NHS
services before they become a major issue. It also acts as an early warning system
by monitoring and highlighting any problems or gaps in service provision.
The total number of contacts between patients and the PALS service in 2017/18 was
2,161. This included 1,378 relating to IESCCG patients.
The main themes prompting contacts included changes to items available on
prescription, requests for non-emergency transport for bariatric patients and to noncontracted locations and GP concerns/registrations.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of Ipswich and East Suffolk
CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:


The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts Direction),
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).









Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year
financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.
The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply
with the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of
Health and in particular to:



Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
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State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health have been
followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial
statements; and,



Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the
responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended),
Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter.
I also confirm that:


As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have
taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are
aware of that information.



that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual
report and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is
fair, balanced and understandable

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
22 May 2018
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Salaries and Allowances 2017/18

Period in Office

Name

Title

Dr Edmund Garratt
Barbara McLean
Chris Hooper
Amanda Lyes
Jane Payling
Chris Armitt
Jan Thomas
Jane Webster
Madeleine Baker-Woods
Richard Watson
Dr Mark Shenton
Dr Imran Qureshi
Dr John Hague
Dr William McKee
Dr Mike McCullagh
Dr Imaad Khalid
Dr Ayesha Tu Zahra
Graham Leaf
Stephen Chicken
Pauline Quinn
Dr Lorna Kerr

Chief Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Acting Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Acting Chief Finance Officer
Chief Contracts Officer
Acting Chief Contracts Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Redesign Officer
Chair and Clinical Lead
Clinical Executive Chair
Mental Health Lead
Intergrated Care Lead
Children, Young People and Maternity Lead

Governing Body Vice Chair and Audit and Governance Lay Member
Lay Member
Patient and Public Involvement Lay Member
Secondary Care Doctor

Management
Delivery
Team
Yes/No
Note 1
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
No
Yes
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No

From

To

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/07/2017
01/04/2017
25/09/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
20/11/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/05/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017

31/03/2018
28/07/2017
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
22/09/2018
17/11/2017
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018

75 - 80
55 - 60
40 - 45
60 - 65
25 - 30
30 - 35
40 - 45
20 - 25
90 - 95
60 - 65
60 - 65
60 - 65
20 - 25
30 - 35
30 - 35
30 - 35
25 - 30
10 - 15
10 - 15
15 - 20
10 - 15

84. NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Expense
Payments
(taxable) to
nearest
£100)
£00
1
0
2
2
0
0
1
0
2
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2017/18
Long-term
Performance Performance
Pay and
Related
Bonuses
Bonuses
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)
£000
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

All Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)
£000
Note 2
15 - 17.5
2.5 - 5
57.5 - 60
15 - 17.5
20 - 25
20 - 22.5
15 - 17.5
7.5 - 10
27.5 - 30
22.5 - 25
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Management
Delivery Team
Total Salary
Total (bands
(bands of
of £5,000)
£5,000)
£000
£000
Note 1
95 - 100
125 - 130
60 - 65
90 - 95
95 - 100
60 - 65
75 - 80
95 - 100
50 - 55
45 - 50
50 - 55
50 - 55
55 - 60
110 - 115
30 - 35
35 - 40
115 - 120
N/A
80 - 85
95 - 100
60 - 65
N/A
60 - 65
N/A
20 - 25
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
30 - 35
N/A
25 - 30
N/A
10 - 15
N/A
10 - 15
N/A
15 - 20
N/A
10 - 15
N/A
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Senior Management Remuneration Report Tables

The below relates to the 2017/18 Salaries and Allowances
Changes to the Governing Body Membership
Management Delivery Team:
Management Delivery Team:
Chief Finance Officer:- Chris Armitt held the position of Acting Chief Finance Officer
until 22nd September 2017 and then left the CCG on 20th October 2017. Jane Payling
was appointed as Chief Finance Officer on 25th September 2017.
Chief Nursing Officer:- Barbara McLean held the position of Chief Nursing Officer until
the 28th July 2017. Chris Hooper was appointed Acting Chief Nursing Officer on the
31st July 2017.
Chief Contracts Officer:- Jan Thomas held the position of Chief Contracts Officer until
the 17th November 2017, at which point she was then seconded to NHS
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough CCG. Jane Webster was appointed as Acting Chief
Contracts Officer on the 20th November 2017.
GP Membership:
Dr Ayesha Tu Zahra and Dr Imaad Khalid both joined the governing board during the
year and Dr John Hague resigned.
Note 1 – Management Delivery Team
West Suffolk CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team that provides management
support to both West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. The cost of the
Management Delivery Team is shared between both CCGs in the proportion:- Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG 62.10% (2016/17 - 62.10%); West Suffolk CCG 37.90%
(2016/17 - 37.90%). The Management Delivery Team includes the above highlighted
Chief Officers. In addition to showing the salary and fees charged to Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG, the table also records the Chief Officer's total salary and fees. As West
Suffolk CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team, the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
share of these pay costs is shown as a charge from West Suffolk CCG in the Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG's accounts and not as payroll costs.
Note 2 – All Pension Related Benefits
The amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in
accordance with the ‘HMRC’ method for defined benefit pension schemes.
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Increase in pension entitlement = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB), where:





PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year;
PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year;
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year; and,
LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.

The amount included is not a sum paid to the officer by the CCG. It merely represents
the increase in pension entitlement that occurred during the year and is derived from
data received from NHS Pensions.
Where N/A is shown in the table there is no requirement to disclose as the pensions
data received includes contributions from other employment sources.
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The below relates to the 2016/17 Salaries and Allowances
Changes to the Governing Body Membership
Management Delivery Team:
Chief Officer: - Julian Herbert relinquished his duties on 18th March 2016 and left the
CCG on 30th April 2016. Dr Edmund Garratt. was appointed to the role on 21st March
2016.
Chief Finance Officer:- Carl Goulton left the CCG on 31st May 2016. Lesley Macleod
was appointed as Interim Chief Finance Officer on 31st May 2016 and then as Chief
Finance Officer on 9th December 2016. Lesley left the CCG on 31st March 2017.
Lay Members:
Stephen Chicken joined the CCG as a Lay Member on 17th January 2017.
Note 1 – Management Delivery Team
West Suffolk CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team that provides management
support to both West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. The cost of the
Management Delivery Team is shared between both CCGs in the proportion: Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG 62.10% (2015/16 - 62.80%) - West Suffolk CCG 37.90%
(2015/165 - 37.20% ). The Management Delivery Team includes the above highlighted
Chief Officers. In addition to showing the salary and fees charged to Ipswich and
East Suffolk CCG, the table also records the Chief Officer's total salary and fees. As
West Suffolk CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team the Ipswich and East Suffolk
CCG share of these pay costs is shown as a charge from West Suffolk CCG in the
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG's accounts and not as payroll costs.
Note 2 – All Pension Related Benefits
The amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in
accordance with the ‘HMRC’ method for defined benefit pension schemes. In summary,
this is as follows:
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Increase in pension entitlement = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB), where:





PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year;
PBi s the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year;
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year; and,
LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.

The amount included is not a sum paid to the officer by the CCG. It merely represents
the increase in pension entitlement that occurred during the year and is derived from
data received from NHS Pensions.
Where N/A is shown in the table there is no requirement to disclose as the pensions
data received includes contributions from other employment sources.
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Pension Benefits 2017/18

Name
Dr Edmund Garratt
Barbara McLean
Chris Hooper
Amanda Lyes
Jane Payling
Chris Armitt
Jan Thomas
Jane Webster
Madeleine Baker-Woods
Richard Watson

Period in Office

Title
Chief Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Acting Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Acting Chief Finance Officer
Chief Contracts Officer
Acting Chief Contracts Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Redesign Officer

From
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
01/07/2017
01/04/2017
25/09/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017
20/11/2017
01/04/2017
01/04/2017

To
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
22/09/2017
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018
31/03/2018

No pension contributions were made in respect of the following Governing Body Members.
Name
Dr Mark Shenton
Dr Imran Qureshi
Dr John Hague
Dr William McKee
Dr Mike McCullagh
Dr Imaad Khalid
Dr Ayesha Tu Zahra
Graham Leaf
Stephen Chicken
Pauline Quinn
Dr Lorna Kerr

Title
Chair and Clinical Lead
Clinical Executive Chair
Mental Health Lead
Intergrated Care Lead
Children, Young People and Maternity Lead

Governing Body Vice Chair and Audit and Governance Lay Member
Lay Member
Patient and Public Involvement Lay Member
Secondary Care Doctor
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Real
increase /
decrease
in pension
at age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase /
decrease
in pension
lump sum
at aged 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2018
(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension
at 31
March
2018
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5

£000
-2.5 - 0
0 - 2.5
12.5 - 15
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
2.5 - 5
-2.5 - 0
0 - 2.5
0
0

£000
20 - 25
35 - 40
30 - 35
35 - 40
35 - 40
15 - 20
10 - 15
30 - 35
10 - 15
15 - 20

£000
45 - 50
115 - 120
90 - 95
100 - 105
60 - 65
30 - 35
15 - 20
95 - 100
0
0

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2017

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2018

£000
249
770
461
580
417
141
133
601
109
99

£000
290
837
605
644
450
178
158
668
137
127

Real
increase/
decrease Employer’s
in Cash contribution
Equivalent
to
Transfer stakeholder
Value
pension
£000
38
59
93
59
15
20
24
22
27
27

£00
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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Pension Benefits 2016/17

Name
Dr Edmund Garratt
Julian Herbert
Madeleine Baker-Woods
Barbara McLean
Amanda Lyes
Carl Goulton
Jan Thomas
Richard Watson

Period in Office

Title
Chief Officer
Chief Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Corporate Services Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Chief Contracts Officer
Chief Redesign Officer

From
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016
01/04/2016

Real
increase /
decrease
in pension
at age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase /
decrease
in pension
lump sum
at aged 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2017
(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension
at 31
March
2017
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5

£000
5 - 7.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5

£000
20 - 25
20 - 25
10 - 15
35 - 40
35 - 40
5 - 10
5 - 10
10 - 15

£000
45 - 50
60 - 65
0-5
110 - 115
100 - 105
0-5
15 - 20
0-5

To
31/03/2017
30/04/2016
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
31/03/2017
31/05/2016
31/03/2017
31/03/2017

No pension contributions were made in respect of the following Governing Body Members.
Name
Dr Mark Shenton
Dr Imran Qureshi
Dr John Hague
Dr William McKee
Dr Mike McCullagh
Lesley Macleod
Graham Leaf
Stephen Chicken
Pauline Quinn
Dr Lorna Kerr

Title
Chair
Clinical Executive Chair
Mental Health Lead
Intergrated Care Lead
Children, Young People and Maternity Lead
Chief Finance Officer
Vice Chair and Audit and Governance Lay Member
Lay Member
Patient and Public Involvement Lay Member
Secondary Care Doctor
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Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2016

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2017

£000
194
362
90
719
541
60
103
85

£000
249
375
109
770
580
67
133
99

Real
increase/
decrease Employer’s
in Cash contribution
Equivalent
to
Transfer stakeholder
Value
pension
£000
55
1
19
51
39
1
30
15

£00
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Remuneration and Staff Report – Remuneration Report

Remuneration policy
Policy on remuneration of senior managers
The policy for the remuneration of senior managers was operated in accordance with
Agenda for Change and it is intended to continue with this policy for future years. The
pay for both the Chief Officer and the Chief Finance Officer was in accordance with
recently published national guidance. The remainder of the senior managers are paid
on the VSM (very senior manager) grade, all salaries have been nationally
benchmarked.
Remuneration Committee
Page 77 provides the members of the Remuneration Committee.
Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
No senior manager of the CCG is paid more than £150,000 per annum.
Senior managers’ performance related pay
There is no element of pay that is performance related.
Policy on senior managers’ contracts
All staff including senior managers (up to and including Band 9) follow the national
terms and conditions of service pertaining to notice periods. The maximum period of
notice under Agenda for Change is 3 months. Chief Officers are appointed in
accordance with the VSM framework and have a notice period built into their contract or
employment for six months.

Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office (subject to audit)
The CCG made no payments of compensation on early retirement or for loss of office
during the year (2016/17 - £Nil).

Payments to past members (subject to audit)
The CCG made no payments to past members during the year (2016/17 - £Nil).
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Pay Multiples (subject to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of
the highest paid director / member in their organisation and the median remuneration of
the organisation's workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the Governing Body in the
financial year 2017/18 was £85,000 to £90,000 (2016/17 - £90,000 to £95,000). This
was 1.75 (2016/17 - 2.20) times the median remuneration of the workforce, which was
£50,000 to £55,000 (2016/17 - £40,000 to £45,000).
In 2017/18 no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid member
of the Governing Body. Remuneration ranged from £25,000 to £30,000 to £85,000 to
£90,000 (2016/17 - from £15,000 to £20,000 to £90,000 to £95,000).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay,
benefits-in-kind but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
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Staff Costs 2017-18

2017-18
Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

Staff Costs 2016-17

Gross employee benefits expenditure

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Admin
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Programme
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

945
87
116
0
0
0
0
0

840
87
116
0
0
0
0
0

105
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

939
86
115
0
0
0
0
0

833
86
115
0
0
0
0
0

106
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

6
1
1
0
0
0
0
0

7
1
1
0
0
0
0
0

(1)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,148

1,043

105

1,140

1,034

106

8

9

(1)

(17)

(17)

0

(17)

(17)

0

0

0

0

1,131

1,026

105

1,123

1,017

106

8

9

(1)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1,131

1,026

105

1,123

1,017

106

8

9

(1)

2016-17
Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Admin
Permanent
Employees
£'000

1,757
185
238
0

1,714
185
238
0

43
0
0
0

1,718
181
232
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

1,673
181
232
0
0
0
0
0

2,180

2,137

43

2,131

2,086

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

45
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

39
4
6
0

45

Programme
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

0
0
0

41
4
6
0
0
0
0
0

(2)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

49

51

(2)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,180

2,137

43

2,131

2,086

45

49

51

(2)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,180

2,137

43

2,131

2,086

45

49

51

(2)
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Staff composition
IESCCG Gender by Banding

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
Banding By Gender

Headcount

16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

2

3

4

5

6

7

8a

8b

8c

8d

9

perso
nal
salary

Male

0

0

1

0

0

0

1

1

0

1

0

14

Female

0

1

1

2

5

2

1

3

1

0

0

2

8b

8c

8d

9

perso
nal
salary

Management Delivery Team Gender by Banding

MDT
Pay Banding By Gender

Headcount

50
45
40
35
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
2

3

4

5

Male

0

Female

3

6

7

2

3

9

24

8a

1

7

15

9

4

6

4

0

2

9

44

27

12

19

7

5

1

6

Staff policies applied during the Financial Year
None
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Staff Numbers

Average number of people employed

Total
Number

2017-18
Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

27

25

2

43

2016-17
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Sickness Absence Data

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG

Chief Operating Office, Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
Chief Redesign Office, Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
Overall Rate

1.61%
1.38%
1.52%

Management Delivery Team

Chief Corporate Office
Chief Contracts Office
Chief Finance Office
Chief Nursing office
Communications and external relations
Office of the Accountable Officer
Overall Rate

2.02%
4.87%
2.85%
3.07%
0.17%
0.00%
3.41%

Sickness absence rates for CCG employees overall were under the 2% target but were
above the same target among the Shared Management Delivery Team. The three main
causes of sickness absence were anxiety, ‘colds, coughs and flu’, and musculo-skeletal
ailments.
Return to work interviews and early referrals to occupational health by line managers
have helped reduce and manage the level of sickness absence. CCG has begun
working with employee wellbeing experts CiC to provide staff with an independent, free
and confidential advice service. All CiC counsellors are either accredited by or
registered with the British Association for Counselling and Psychotherapy or an
equivalent professional body. They offer practical advice and emotional support with
work and personal issues. Other initiatives to improve staff wellbeing have included a
programme of flu jabs for all employees and a stress workshop.
All of our employees have access to a Stress Management Toolkit which helps them
identify the causes of stress and are able to discuss any issues they may have with line
managers and the occupational health team. The CCG has also relaunched its staff
health and wellbeing group and a number of health and wellbeing champions have been
appointed.
The health and wellbeing initiatives we have introduced have included:
•
•
•

access to Suffolk Wellbeing workshops
flexible working opportunities, and
monthly activities such as charity collections
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Sickness Absence Data continued

We are accredited by Investors in People (IiP) to gold assessment standard and also
have the ‘Health and Wellbeing’ award and the ‘Staying Healthy at Work’ award. During
assessment for the IiP gold standard 193 requirements were evidenced, well over the
165 needed. The executive summary in the IiP report praised the CCG for “very clear
direction and objectives”, “clear, high standards and procedures to enable people to
perform well” and “great encouragement and support of ideas for improvement”.
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Remuneration and Staff Report – Staff Report
Staff Engagement
A variety of means are used to keep employees informed about workplace
developments.
These include:
•
•
•
•

regular one-to-one meetings with line managers during which they are
encouraged to raise any concerns or issues
monthly team briefings hosted by the Chief Officer during which questions from
the floor are encouraged or can be tabled anonymously in advance
The Buzz, a fortnightly electronic newsletter, and
Suffolk Headlines – an all staff email to alert people to key business and building
updates.

Any issues concerning staff are reported to the Remuneration and HR Committee and
the Staff Partnership Forum for discussion and CCG performance data is posted on the
staff intranet on a monthly basis.
The CCG’s values and behaviours are included in the personal development plans of all
employees and regular reviews are conducted by line managers to ensure these are
being adhered to by staff. Regular employee surveys are also undertaken.
Joint Staff Partnership:
The CGG works closely with trade union colleagues including Unison, the Royal
College of Nursing and Managers in Partnership as part of the Joint Staff Partnership.
Meetings occur bi-monthly and details of matters discussed and decisions taken are
communicated to staff.
During the year the Joint Staff Partnership also reviewed and signed off a new staff
sickness absence policy and sponsored a ‘lunch and learn’ event on infection control.
Disabled employees:
The CCG promotes equality of opportunity in all it does, including in the recruitment and
selection of its workforce, and has ‘Positive about Disability’ accreditation. Its
recruitment and selection policy highlights the steps recruiting managers need to take if
an applicant declares themselves as disabled. Reasonable steps are taken to ensure all
disabled applicants are treated fairly, which includes being flexible about interviewing
venues, selection procedures and aptitude tests.
Occupational health advice and support is offered to all staff and specialist advice is
sought for disabled employees.
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Remuneration and Staff Report – Staff Report
Staff Engagement continued

Meetings with occupational health advisers are held every three months to review how
the CCG can actively support staff health and wellbeing. All employees undergo an
annual appraisal and personal development plans are drawn up on an equal
opportunities basis. Key Performance Indicators regarding equal opportunities are
regularly reported to the Remuneration and HR Committee.
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Remuneration and Staff Report – Staff Report
Expenditure on consultancy

The CCG did not incur any consultancy expenditure during the year (2016/17 £55k).

101. NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Remuneration and Staff Report – Staff Report

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements)
Regulations 2017
Relevant union officials
Total number of employees who were relevant union officials during 2017/18:

Number of employees who were relevant
union officials during 2017/18
2
(Shared resource across NHS Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG and NHS West Suffolk CCG)

Full-time equivalent employee number
2
(Shared resource across NHS Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG and NHS West Suffolk CCG)

Percentage of time spent on facility time
Percentage of their working time spent on facility time by employees who were relevant union officials employed
during 2017/18:

Percentage of time
0%
1-50%
51-99%
100%

Number of employees
2
0
0
0

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time
Percentage of your total pay bill spent on paying employees who were relevant union officials for facility time during
2017/18:

Total cost of facility time
Total pay bill
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility
time

£Nil
£1,148k
0%

Paid trade union activities
Percentage of total paid facility time hours spent by employees who were relevant union officials during the 2017/18
on paid trade union activities:

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a
percentage of total paid facility time hours

0%
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Remuneration and Staff Report – Staff Report
Off-payroll engagements

For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2018, for more than £245 per day
and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2018

0

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

0

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

0

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

0

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018, for more than £245 per day
and that last for longer than 6 months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018

0

Of which:
Number assessed as caught by IR35

0

Number assessed as not caught by IR35

0

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are
on the departmental payroll
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance
purposes during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following
the consistency review
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0

0

0

Remuneration and Staff Report – Staff Report
Off-payroll engagements continued

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2017 and 31 March 2018.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the

0

financial year (1)
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should

21

include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements. (2)
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Remuneration and Staff Report – Staff Report
Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments
(subject to audit)

The CCG did not agree any exit packages during 2017-18 (2016-17 £nil.)
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Remuneration and Staff Report – Staff Report
Health and Safety

The Health & Safety and Risk Committee meets quarterly to review issues relating to
the CCGs.
The committee is chaired by the Chief Corporate Services Officer and draws
membership from both the NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk and NHS West Suffolk
CCGs, the CCGs’ health and safety services provider Safetyboss and the
management delivery team. The committee reports to the Remuneration and HR
Committee for information and comment.
Endeavour House and Landmark House both have Building User Group (BUG)
meetings. The CCGs have representatives who attend these meetings and any
health and safety issues, either from the Health, Safety and Risk Committee or
respective BUG meetings, are fed back to staff via these forums.
Health and safety training is now provided via a web-based training tool. The
mandatory modules cover the required areas of health and safety for a low risk office
environment and each includes an assessment that must be passed by staff.
During October and November 2017, all CCG staff moved out of Rushbrook House
in Bramford, with the majority moving to Endeavour House and the remainder to
Landmark House. This has resulted in the CCG occupying Suffolk County Council
buildings and dovetailing into their fire and first aid arrangements. To ensure robust
arrangements are in place for staff, the CCG has its own fire marshalls at Endeavour
House. Staff have been trained in the use of evacuation chairs so they are able to
assist disabled staff in the event of an incident.
The Terms of Reference for the Health, Safety and Risk Committee have been
revised to reflect the new locations of CCG staff, fire and first aid arrangements and
the termination of the CCG’s relationship with NHS Property Services regarding
occupancy of Rushbrook House. The committee continues to provide advice to staff
on their safety within the office environment and work with them to maintain a safe
environment for staff and visitors.
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group is not required to produce a
Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent
liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as
notes in the Financial Statements of this report. An audit certificate and report is also
included in this Annual Report.

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
22 May 2018

107. NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Section 2; Appendix 1
Annual Governance
Statement
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Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG - Governance
Statement 2017-18
Introduction and Context
Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate
established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the
provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.
The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health
services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements
of its local population.
As at 1 April 2017, the clinical commissioning group was not subject to any directions
from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act
2006.

Scope of Responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies,
aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am
personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in
Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing
the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning
group as set out in this governance statement.
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Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of
good governance as are relevant to it.
The Governance Framework of the Clinical Commissioning Group is the system by
which the Clinical Commissioning Group is directed and controlled in order to achieve
its

objectives

and

meet

the

necessary

standards

of

accountability

and

probity. Effective corporate governance, along with clinical governance, is essential
for a Clinical Commissioning Group to achieve its clinical, quality and financial
objectives.
The NHS Act 2006, together with the Health & Social Care Act 2012 and associated
legislation, sets out the legal framework within which the Clinical Commissioning
Group operates. It is a statutory requirement that the Clinical Commissioning Group
Governing Body specify their terms of reference, schedule of reservation and
delegation of powers, and the financial framework within which the organisation
operates. These key documents comprise the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
corporate governance arrangements and include:


The Constitution - as a framework for Governing Body governance



The Detailed Financial Policies - as a framework for financial governance



The Scheme of Reservation and Delegation - as a framework for internal
governance

It is essential that the public and all employees know of the existence of these
documents and for staff, that they are aware of their responsibilities as set out within.
They are therefore reviewed, updated and approved each year at a meeting of the
Governing Body in public and made available on the Clinical Commissioning Group
web site and intranet.
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The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Membership Body includes 40 member practices
that make up five groupings. These are:


Suffolk Primary Care



Deben Health Group



Coast and Country



Ipswich



Unaligned
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Coast and Country

Ipswich



Constable Country Rural Medical Practice



Barrack Lane Medical Centre



Eye Health Centre



Burlington Primary Care



Fressingfield Medical Centre



Felixstowe Road Medical Practice



Hadleigh Health Centre



Hawthorn Drive Surgery



Martlesham Surgery



Ivry Street Medical Practice



Needham Market Country Practice



Orchard Medical Practice



The Grove Medical Centre



Ravenswood Medical Practice



The Holbrook and Shotley Practice



The Chesterfield Drive Practice



The Birches Medical Centre



The Derby Road Practice



The Dr Solway & Dr Whale
Practice



Deben Health Group

Two Rivers Medical Centre

Suffolk Primary Care



Church Farm Surgery



Combs Ford Surgery



Framfield House



Deben Road Surgery



Framlingham Surgery



Debenham Surgery



Little St John’s Street Surgery



Haven Health



Saxmundham Health



Howard House Surgery



The Peninsula Practice



Leiston Surgery



Wickham Market Medical Centre



Stow Health



The Norwich Road Surgery



Walton Surgery



The Barham & Claydon Surgery

Unaligned


Bildeston Health Centre



Ixworth Surgery



Mendlesham Health Centre
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The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Governing Body includes 13 voting members: 7
GPs elected by their peers, a lay member for governance, a lay member for patient
and public involvement, an Accountable Officer, a Chief Nursing Officer, a secondary
care doctor and a Chief Finance Officer. The Governing Body also includes 4 nonvoting Chief Officers and a third lay member appointed in 2016 (in accordance with
the NHS England statutory guidance on the management of conflicts of interest).
Governing Body meetings focus on strategy, clinical and service development,
finance, performance and scrutiny and governance and corporate business.
Some of the key items considered by the Governing Body at meetings during the year
included:


Community Services



Integrated Urgent Care Services



Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships and Integrated Care System
Planning



Children and Adolescent Mental Health



Special Education Needs and Disability (SEND)



Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response



Primary Care Strategy



East of England Ambulance Services



Provider Care Quality Commission Reports

Given the dynamic environment within which CCGs undertake their activities even the
most experienced Governing Body Members benefit from on-going training and
support. New Members also need robust orientation, allowing them to understand their
role and the organisations governance processes. Further to the findings of the annual
self-assessment process, relevant update training and development opportunities
have been made available for Governing Body Members. As a consequence, the
Governing Body considers that it has been effective in the discharge of its duties and
has been assured by NHS England at quarterly review meetings.

The table below shows the Governing Body attendance for 2017-18:
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Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG – Governing Body 2017/18
Governing Body Member
Armitt Chris

25 Apr 17

23 May 17

27 Jun 17

(Part two)

(Part one and
two

(Part two)

25 July 17

26 Sept 17

24 Oct 17

28 Nov 17

23 Jan 18

27 Mar 18

(Part one and
two)

(Part two)

(Part one and
two)

(Part one
and two)

(Part one and
two)

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Acting Chief Finance Officer)

Baker-Woods Maddie
(Chief Operating Officer)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

Evans Nerinda

Yes

(Deputy Chief Transformation Officer)

Garratt Ed

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Part One
Only (Left
early)

Yes

(Chief Officer)

Hague John
(GP Member)

Hooper Chris

Yes

(Deputy Chief Nursing Officer)

Kerr Lorna

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Khalid Imaad
(GP Member)

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Leaf Graham

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

No
Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Secondary Care Doctor)

(Lay Member for Governance)

Lyes Amanda
(Chief Corporate Services Officer)

McCullagh Michael
(GP Member)

McKee Billy
(GP Member)

McLean Barbara
(Chief Nursing Officer)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Quinn Pauline

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Part Two
only

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Patient and Public)

Qureshi Imran
(GP Member)

Reynolds Jon
(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

Shenton Mark

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(GP Member- Chair of CCG)

Staunton Eugene

Yes

(Associate Director of Transformation)

Thomas Jan

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

Part One
only

Part One
only

(Chief Contracts Officer)

Tu Zahra Ayesha
(GP Member)
Watson Richard

Yes

(Chief Transformation Officer)

Webster Jane

Yes

(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

Director/Cons in Public
Health

No

Part One
only

No

No

Part One
only

No

Part One
only
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The formal sub-committees established by the Clinical Commissioning Group
Governing Body include:
The Audit Committee
The purpose and key functions of the Audit Committee include reviewing the adequacy
of:
(i)

All risk and control related disclosure statements (in particular the Annual
Governance Statement), together with any accompanying Head of Internal
Audit statement, external audit opinion or other appropriate independent
assurances, prior to endorsement by the Governing Body;

(ii)

The structures, processes and responsibilities for identifying and managing
key risks facing the organisation through the oversight of risk management
and information governance strategies;

(iii)

The operational effectiveness of policies and procedures relating to internal
control and risk management including the Governing Body Assurance
Framework; and

(iv)

The policies and procedures for all work related to fraud and corruption
required under the terms of the Standard NHS Contract and in accordance
with the NHS Protect Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and
Corruption

Highlights of the Committee’s work included:


Consideration and oversight of the work plans for External Audit, Internal Audit
and Counter Fraud



Data/Cyber Security & General Data Regulations (GDPR)



Individual Funding Requests



Continuing Healthcare



Auditor Appointment



Managing Conflicts of Interest Guidance

Internal Audit reporting included reports on the following:


Quality – Care Homes
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Individual Funding Requests



Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF)



Continuing Healthcare



Commissioning – Quality Premium



Financial Reporting and Budgetary Control



Key Financial Assurance



HR Recruitment and Payroll



Managing Conflicts of Interest



Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP)



Delegated Commissioning



Better Care Fund



IT Contracts



IG Toolkit

Audit Committee – Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG – 2017/18
Audit Committee Member

04 Apr 17

22 May 17

13 Jun 17

5 Sept 17

5 Dec 17

6 Feb 18

(Extraordinary)

Leaf Graham

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Acting Chief
Finance Officer
Head of
Accounting
and Control
Governance
Advisor
Chief
Corporate
Services
Officer

External Audit
Internal Audit
Head of
Accounting and
Control

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter
Fraud
Head of
Accounting
and Control
Acting Chief
Finance
Officer
Chief
Corporate
Services
Officer

Internal Audit
External
Audit
Counter
Fraud
Head of
Accounting
and Control
Governance
Advisor

Internal Audit
External Audit
Chief Finance
Officer
Head of
Accounting
and Control
Chief
Corporate
Services
Officer
Governance
Advisor

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Chief Finance
Officer
Head of
Accounting
and Control
Governance
Advisor
Information
Governance
Manager

(Lay Member for Governance)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

McCullagh Michael
(GP Member – Governing Body Member)

Quinn Pauline (Reserve)
(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Others in attendance to
advise:

The Remuneration and Human Resources Committee
The purpose of the Remuneration and Human Resources Committee is to:
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(i)

Advise the Governing Body about the appropriate remuneration and
terms of service for the Accountable Officer, Chief Officers and senior
managers of the Clinical Commissioning Group.

(ii)

Under delegated powers from the Governing Body, make decisions on
all aspects of the Accountable Officers’, Chief Officers’ and senior
managers’ salaries (including any performance-related elements and
any allowances) within the provisions of relevant national frameworks,
provisions for other benefits, as well as the arrangements for termination
of employment and other contractual terms.

(iii)

Advise on all Human Resources policies and procedures and issues that
may impact on the terms and conditions of employment for all staff.

(iv)

Advise on all matters of health and safety.

Highlights of the Committee’s work included:


Human Resources/Workforce Performance



Health and Safety/Risk Management



Updated Guidance on the Appointment of Accountable Officers



Apprenticeship Levy



Gender Pay Issues



Employee Talent Management



GP election Process

Remuneration and HR Committee – Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG – 2017/18
Remuneration & HR
Committee Member

18 April 17

20 Jun 17

19 Sep 17

19 Dec 17

13 Feb 18

Leaf Graham

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Chief
Corporate
Services
Officer

Chief
Corporate
Services
Officer
Finance
Manager

Chief Corporate
Services Officer

Chief
Corporate
Services
Officer

Chief
Corporate
Services
Officer

(Lay Member for Governance)

McCullagh Michael
(GP Member – Governing Body
Member)

Reserve - Quinn
Pauline
(Lay Member for Patient and
Public Engagement)

Others in attendance
to advise:

The Clinical Scrutiny Committee
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The purpose of the Clinical Scrutiny Committee is to:
(i)

Provide a dedicated forum for the oversight of clinical governance.

(ii)

Provide assurance to the Governing Body and Audit Committee that the
Clinical Commissioning Group has the necessary clinical governance
arrangements in place to meet its objectives.

(iii)

Ensure effective clinical engagement in clinical governance processes,
utilising clinicians’ specific expertise and knowledge of local communities
and public/patient involvement.

(iv)

Facilitate a culture where clinical quality, patient experience and patient
safety are of the highest priority.

Clinical Scrutiny Committee – Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG – 2017/18
Clinical Scrutiny
Committee Member

25 April 17

27 Jun 17

22 Aug 17

Armitt Chris

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

24 Oct 17

19 Dec 17

27 Feb 18

Yes

No

Yes

(Acting Chief Finance Officer)

Baker-Woods Maddie
(Chief Operating Officer)

Brown David
(Deputy Chief Operating Officer)
Chicken Steve

Yes
Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Dial in

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Part

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

(Lay Member)

Egan David
(GP Member)

Flather John
(GP Member)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

Hague John
(GP Member)

Holloway Peter
(GP Member)

Hooper Chris
(Deputy Chief Nursing Officer)

Jesuthasan Juno
(GP Member)

Kanka David
(Asst Director of Public Health)

Kerr Lorna
(Secondary Care Doctor)

Khalid Imaad
(GP Member)

Leaf Graham
(Lay Member for Governance)

Lyes Amanda
(Chief Corporate Services Officer)

McCullagh Michael
(GP Member)

McKee Billy
(GP Member)

McLean Barbara
(Chief Nursing Officer)
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Oates John

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(GP Member)

Payling Jane
( Chief Finance Officer)

Qureshi Imran

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Dial in

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Dial in

(GP Member)

Quinn Pauline
(Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement)

Rufford Chris
(GP Member)

Shenton Mark
(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Karen Smith

Yes

Yes

(Head of Patient Safety and Clinical Effectiveness)

Solway Ben

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

(GP Member)

Thomas Jan
(Chief Contracts Officer)

Tu Zahra Ayesha
(GP Member)
Watson Richard

Yes

(Chief Redesign Officer)

Webster Jane
(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

Vacant Post
(GP Member)

The Commissioning Governance Committee
The purpose of the Commissioning Governance Committee is to:
(i)

Provide a forum, with delegated decision-making powers, for approval of
commissioning intentions where the recommended providers are GP practices.

(ii)

Provide assurance to the Governing Body, Audit Committee, NHS England and
general public that the Clinical Commissioning Group has the necessary
governance arrangements in place to manage conflict of interest in regard to the
procurement of services provided by GP practices.

(iii)

Facilitate a culture of openness and probity around the local commissioning of
GP services.

(iv) Demonstrate that the Clinical Commissioning Group and member practices are
acting fairly and transparently and that final commissioning decisions are made
in ways that preserve the integrity of the decision making process.
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Commissioning Governance Committee – Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG – 2017/18
Committee Member

04 Apr 17

02 May 17 05 May 17

04 Jul 17

03 Aug 17

(Virtual)

Armitt Chris

26 Sept 17

24 Oct 17

14 Nov 17

22 Nov 17
(Virtual)

(Virtual)

16 Jan
18

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes
Yes

(Acting Chief Finance Officer)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

Leaf Graham
(Lay Member for Governance)

Kerr Lorna
(Secondary Care Doctor)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Quinn Pauline

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Thomas Jan
(Chief Contracts Officer)

Reynolds Jon

Yes

(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)
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Committee Member

27 Feb 18

27 Mar 18

Garratt Ed

No

Yes

(Chief Officer)

Chicken Steve

Yes

(Lay Member)

Leaf Graham

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance)

Kerr Lorna
(Secondary Care Doctor)

Payling Jane

Yes

(Chief Finance Officer)

Quinn Pauline

No

Yes

Yes

No

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Webster Jane
(Acting Chief Contracts Officer)

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is established in accordance with
statutory provisions to enable the members to make collective decisions on the review,
planning and procurement of primary care services in Ipswich and East Suffolk, under
delegated authority from NHS England.
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Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee – 2017/18
Committee Member

23 May 17

Armitt Chris

25 July 17

26 Sept 17

20 Oct 17

28 Nov 17

11 Jan 18

23 Jan 18

27 Feb 18

27 Mar 18

(Part one and
two)

(Part one and
two)

(Virtual)

(Part one and
two)
(Inquorate)

(Virtual)

(Part one and
two)

(Part two)

(Part one and
two)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

(Acting Chief Finance Officer)

Baker Woods, Maddie
(Chief Operating Officer)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

Leaf Graham
(Lay Member for Governance)

Kerr Lorna
(Secondary Care Doctor)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Quinn Pauline

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Thomas Jan
(Chief Contracts Officer)

Webster Jane
(Acting Chief Contracts Officer)

Non-voting Members
Shenton Mark Dr

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

(IESCCGChair – non- voting)

Healthwatch Representative
(Non-voting)

Health and Wellbeing Board
Representative
(Non-voting)

LMC Representative
(Non-voting)

NHS England Representative
(NHS England Representative – non-voting)

The Financial Performance Committee
The purpose of the Financial Performance Committee is to:
(i)

Establish a financial performance framework which enables the CCG to
proactively manage its financial, performance and quality, innovation,
productivity and prevention (QIPP) agenda

(ii)

Provide assurance about financial performance to the Governing Body by
reviewing and scrutinising performance reports and remedial action plans in
detail prior to submission to Governing Body meetings

(iii)

Ensure that the CCG operates within agreed budgets and proposing plans and
necessary actions to maintain financial balance
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(iv)

Demonstrate the achievement of value for money and provide confidence to the
Governing Body and wider public that the CCGs resources are being used
effectively and efficiently

(v)

Facilitate a culture of openness and probity around the delivery of effective
financial and performance management

(vi)

Hold to account the relevant Chief Officers and appropriate GPs for delivery of
agreed plans within their areas of responsibility

Financial Performance Committee – Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG – 2017/18
Committee Member

18 Apr 17

16 May
17

20 Jun 17

18 Jul 17

15 Aug 17

19 Sept 17

17 Oct 17

21 Nov 17

19 Dec 17

Armitt Chris

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Acting Chief Finance Officer)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

McCullagh Michael
(GP Member)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Qureshi Imran

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

(GP Member)

Shenton Mark
(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Reserve - Leaf Graham
(Lay Member for Governance)
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Committee Member

16 Jan 18

20 Feb 18

20 Mar 18

Chicken Steve

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member)

Garratt Ed
(Chief Officer)

McCullagh Michael
(GP Member)

Payling Jane
(Chief Finance Officer)

Qureshi Imran
(GP Member)

Shenton Mark
(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Reserve - Leaf Graham
(Lay Member for Governance)

UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
However, we have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing
upon best practice available, including the aspects of the UK Corporate Governance
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Code in respect of leadership, effectiveness and accountability that we consider to be
relevant to the Clinical Commissioning Group and best practice.

Discharge of Statutory Functions
Arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning group and explained within
the Corporate Governance Framework have been developed with extensive expert
external legal input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation. That legal
advice also informed the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body
decision and the scheme of delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can
confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness
During the course of 2017-18, the organisation's processes for effective risk
management were managed in line with the Clinical Commissioning Group Risk
Management Strategy and Organisational Framework 2016-2019 and the Governing
Body Assurance Framework with this being reviewed monthly by the Chief Officer
Team and Clinical Scrutiny Committee, and also reviewed by the Governing Body and
the Audit Committee at each of their meetings.
The Chief Corporate Services Officer is the designated lead for overseeing the dayto-day coordination of risk management reporting arrangements, including training
and is a resource for all risk related issues. The Governance Advisor supports Chief
Officers, Heads of Department and Line Managers, whilst also scrutinising all identified
risk and incident data. As the designated lead, the Chief Corporate Services Officer
works in partnership with:
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The Risk Manager who acts as the Clinical Commissioning Group’s ‘Competent
Person’



The Chief Nursing Officer with respect to risk management requirements set
out in the Care Quality Commission standards



The Information Governance Lead and Data Protection Officer

Equality Impact Assessments are conducted at the outset of setting strategy and
delivering services across the commissioning cycle and in assuring a control and
assurance culture through risk, incident and complaints management which ensures
a clearly defined culture of equality across the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
activities.
Risk Assessment
The Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) provides the Clinical
Commissioning Group with a simple but comprehensive method for the effective and
focused management of risk. Through the GBAF the Governing Body gains assurance
from the Chief Officers that all risks are being appropriately managed throughout the
organisation.
The GBAF identifies which of the organisation’s strategic goals may be at risk because
of inadequacies in the operation of controls, or where the Clinical Commissioning
Group has insufficient assurance. At the same time it encompasses the control of risk,
provides structured assurances about where risks are being managed and ensures
that objectives are being delivered. This allows the Governing Body to determine how
to make the most efficient use of resources and address the issues identified in order
to continuously improve the quality and safety of healthcare commissioning.
In order to ensure consistency in the risk assessment process, the likelihood and
consequences of all risks on the Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Register are
assessed against an agreed 5x5 risk matrix. Risks which are deemed to be of sufficient
concern to the organisation as a whole are considered for being migrated to the GBAF
and thereby inform the Governing Body agenda. The risk matrix and subsequent red,
amber, green (RAG) score identify the level at which identified risks will be managed
within the organisation. It also assigns priorities for remedial action and determines
whether risks are to be accepted on the basis of the colour bandings and risk ratings.
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In evaluating effectiveness, the RAG rating system is also used to present how well
the agreed controls are operating.
A summary of the key strategic risks affecting the Clinical Commissioning Group
during the course of 2017-18 (including those carried forward into future years) and
the actions taken to eliminate or mitigate them have included:
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Risk
3.

18.

Actions Taken to Eliminate or Mitigate

Failure to achieve financial balance in 2017-18












Project management approach to delivery of the QIPP plans
Focus on activity levels at acute providers with clear actions to mitigate against over performance
Close monitoring of the delivery of QIPP initiatives through KPI’s
Encourage innovative changes principally via CCGs to improve efficiency
Active scrutiny and challenge of specialist costs through meetings with the Specialised Commissioning team
Clinical Executive and Governing Body review of all significant investment.
Holding new investments that don’t generate in year savings until QIPP delivery is on track
Participation in regional and national discussions
Prioritisation process for QIPP initiative investments and transformational change at Clinical Executive
Maximum contract value agreed with IHT and guaranteed contract values agreed with WSFT and CHUFT

Failure to achieve the local reduction trajectories for
Clostridium Difficile




Removed from GBAF in September 2017



Robust Root Cause Analysis (RCA) process for each provider case and submitted to CCG for assessment
Audit programme of CQC recommended Infection Control standards (to include antibiotic prescribing) in all
CCG commissioned services
CCG attendance at Post Infection Review (PIR) and Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) Committee
meetings
Provider delivery of targeted infection control education and audit in all CCG commissioned services





20.

Failure to redesign and commission services covered by
the Urgent Care and Health and Independence reviews
within required timescales

17/18 trajectory agreed in SLA – ceiling for 18 Acute cases and 89 non-acute cases
External scrutiny provided by Public Health England




Redesign of core components of the Urgent Care and Health and Independence Review underway
Contracts in place with the Consortium (West Suffolk Hospital, Ipswich Hospital and Norfolk Community
Services) for adult and children’s community services plus extension of contract to 111 and Out of Hours with
Care UK all running to October 2018.




Regular review with SCC to ensure smooth running of programmes
Clinical Executive considered and agreed approach to wider redesign of services for commissioning by Oct
2018
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Risk

Actions Taken to Eliminate or Mitigate

24.

Significant reduction in the capacity of GP services in
Ipswich as a whole and some individual East Suffolk
practices, affecting access times for patients and demand
for other services







CCG Primary care strategy and support team in daily contact with practices
Ipswich and other locality meetings
Bi-monthly Practice Manager (PM) meetings
LMC/CCG/PM meetings
Weekly Clinical Executive meetings Bi-monthly Governing Body meetings

26a.

Potential impact of service quality delivered by NSFT






Regular quality review meetings to review performance against defined key performance indicators
Support NSFT to develop a visual quality dashboard promoting visual assessment of performance against
agreed thresholds and allowing trends to be identified.
CCG / NHS Improvement attendance at monthly stakeholder assurance meetings to review and challenge
progress to deliver quality improvements
Review of progress against quality improvement plans (Trust / Local) prior to each quality review meeting
Schedule quality improvement visits to Suffolk based NSFT services organised and currently taking place
Assurance of robust process to sign off Cost Improvement Programmes (CIP) and to review Quality Impact
Assessments (QIA) associated with the CIPs to assess potential negative impact on quality
Support NSFTs mock CQC inspections and provide feedback and gain assurance that the Trust has robust
plans in place to improve concerns raised through the mock CQC inspections
Monitor primary care contract issues and the Trust response







Completion of Recovery Action Plans (RAPs)
Contract Performance Notices for Access and Assessment Team (AAT)
Director level escalation of long children’s waits
7 day Care Programme Approach (CPA) follow up
Information Notices issued on data completeness and data quality







26b.

Poor performance of mental health services
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Risk
27.

28.

29.

A&E failing to meet 4 hour standard presenting a
potential risk to patient safety and experience

Significant issues identified with the blood transfusion service
at West Suffolk Hospital (WSH) run by NEESPS (TPP up to
May 2017) during an inspection by the MHRA in January 2017

Failure to comply with Special Educational Needs and
Disability (SEND) Reforms

Actions Taken to Eliminate or Mitigate








Daily reporting of performance.
Internal escalation process has been re-circulated and updated with short term on the day forward demand
planning to anticipate peaks
111 targets to reduce inappropriate referrals to A+E
A+E referral pathway in place to re-direct appropriate patients to GP+ service.
A&E Board as per NHSE guidance in place
Doctor productivity being recorded manually whilst electronic option is resolved
Assess and address staff shortages in medical and nursing rotas 10 days in advance






Trust / NEESPS improvement plan
Weekly Trust / NEESPS updates on progress against plan to MHRA / NHSI
Serious Incident Reporting
Further MHRA inspections




Written statement detailing implementation actions to achieve compliance
Send Strategy Group (and associated sub-groups) established to provide strategic leadership and
governance overseeing implementation of improvement actions
Appointment of programme manager to deliver implementation of improvements
Appointment of SEND support worker to operationally deliver SEND reforms




30.

CCG will not be able to meet its statutory duties to
safeguard children and adults in Suffolk
Risk added to GBAF in September 2017





Change line management reporting so Designates report directly to Chief Nursing Officer
Chief Nursing Officer to directly support the management of safeguarding teams
Approach to local service providers to see if cover can be provided from within the existing workforce or
significantly increase the designate nursing team
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Risk
31.

WSFT is failing in their 18 week RTT performance on
both an aggregate level and individual specialty level
Risk added to GBAF in December 2017

32.

EEAST is failing performance targets against ambulance
response categories, particular concern are delays in the
higher acuity Category 1 and 2 calls
Risk added to GBAF in February 2018

33.
Currently East of England Ambulance are unable to meet the
demand for its services, which may impact on the safety of
patients
Risk added to GBAF in February 2018

Actions Taken to Eliminate or Mitigate




Contractual performance review at each contract meeting
2 weekly RTT review meeting
RTT reduction model developed and tracked





Weekly performance reviews and forecasting update with Commissioners and Provider
EEAST risk summit convened in Feb 2018 and will continue to review progress of performance
Monthly contract review focuses on local performance attainment and issues








Contract in place with KPIs
Monthly joint CCG contract quality review meetings
Monthly contract and review meetings
Risk summit process
System wide actions to reduce demand and handover delays
Robust serious incident investigation process
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Further to monthly scrutiny, the risk ratings for each of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s key strategic risks have changed over the course of
the year as follows:
Risk No

Apr-17

May-17

Jun-17

Jul-17

Aug-17

Sep-17

Oct-17

Nov-17

Dec-17

Jan-18

Feb-18

Mar-18

3

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

10▼

10►

10►

10►

18

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

Removed

20

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

24

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

26a

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

26b

12►

12►

12►

9▼

9►

12▲

12►

12►

12►

12►

16▲

16►

27

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

28

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

29

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

16

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16

16►

16►

16►

32

20

20►

33

20

20►

30
31
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The risk rating matrix used:

Likelihood score →

1: Rare

2: Unlikely

3: Possible

4: Likely

5: Almost Certain

5: Catastrophic

5

10

15

20

25

4: Major

4

8

12

16

20

3: Moderate

3

6

9

12

15

2: Minor

2

4

6

8

10

1: Negligible

1

2

3

4

5

Consequence score ↓

The subsequent red, amber, green (RAG) scores identify the level at which identified risks will be managed within the organisation. It also
assigns priorities for remedial action, and determines whether risks are to be accepted on the basis of the colour bandings and risk ratings.
In terms of evaluation of effectiveness, the RAG rating system is also used to present how well the agreed controls are operating within
the following classifications:
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RAG Score

CRITICAL
(15-25)

CHALLENGING
(8-12)

MANAGEABLE
(1-6)

Progress

Risk Assessment

 There may be significant gaps in controls to
ensure effective management.
 Controls are in place but insufficient
resources
 Controls are in place but external forces
may be preventing progress.

 There are insufficient controls in place to address the
cause or source of the risk
 Controls are considered insubstantial or ineffective
 Controls are being implemented but are not yet in place
 If this risk were to materialise, the situation could be
irrecoverable in terms of the Clinical Commissioning
Groups reputational/financial well-being and or service
continuity.

Progress is being made but there is concern
that the objective may not be achieved.
Additional controls or management action is
being taken to improve the likelihood of
success.

There are few controls in place, which are considered
substantial and/or effective and address the cause of the
risk. The consequences of the risk materialising, though
severe, can be managed to some extent via contingency
plans.

Progress is being made in accordance with
plans. There are no significant concerns.

The risk is considered to be small and there are sufficient
controls in place which address or substantially effect the
cause of the risk. The consequences of the risk
materialising can be managed via contingency plans.
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Revising Risk Ratings

If controls are inadequate then the revised risk rating
increases

If controls are uncertain, the revised risk rating stays the
same as the original risk rating

If they are perceived as adequate, then the revised risk
rating decreases

None of the principal risks relate to compliance with the Clinical Commissioning Group
licence. In addition, the Governing Body reviews the GBAF at each of its meetings
thus ensuring a high degree and rigour over the Clinical Commissioning Group’s risk
management performance.

Capacity to Handle Risk
All actions contain inherent risks and risk management is central to the effective
running of any organisation. The Clinical Commissioning Group therefore ensures that
decisions made on behalf of the organisation are taken with due consideration to the
management of risks.
To achieve this, the Governing Body must be confident that the systems, policies and
people it has put in place are operating in a way that is effective, are focused on key
risks and driving the delivery of the organisations objectives. The Governing Body
must also demonstrate that it has been properly informed, through evidence from the
Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF), that it is aware of the totality of risk
facing the organisation, and that it has made decisions on the management of that risk
based on all of the available evidence. The Clinical Commissioning Group’s risk and
control mechanism is described diagrammatically below:
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The GBAF is built around the Risk Register and from which the relevant strategic risks
are drawn. Whilst appropriately rated strategic risks will automatically migrate to the
GBAF, the Governing Body, with additional oversight provided by the Audit
Committee, determines whether or not any other risks from the Risk Register should
be transferred to the GBAF when considered strategically significant.
Incident and risk reporting is actively encouraged across the Clinical Commissioning
Group and relevant reports are recorded on an integrated risk reporting system called
‘Sentinel’, this being managed within the Chief Corporate Services Officer’s
department.
As a working document, the GBAF is updated monthly by the Chief Officers and
reviewed by the Governing Body, the Clinical Scrutiny Committee and the Audit
Committee at each of their meetings, the former in public.
Risks arising from the Clinical Commissioning Group’s daily operations can result in
less than optimum quality of service, financial loss, disruption of normal operations,
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accidents and injuries or adverse publicity. The likelihood of these events occurring
and the potential extent of their impact depend on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
practices, processes and culture as well as external influences.
A key aim of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s risk management arrangements is
the continued reduction of risk through the greater understanding and involvement of
staff at all levels of the organisation. In order to support this, anybody who identifies a
potential or actual risk can report their concerns directly to their line manager, a Chief
Officer or the Risk Manager by submitting a completed Risk Report Form; indeed all
employees have a duty to do so.

Other Sources of Assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It
is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness. How we achieve this is described in the preceding
sections.
Annual Audit of Conflicts of interest Management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published
June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework.
The second annual audit was undertaken in January 2018 with an overall assurance
assessment of substantial assurance. There were two routine and two operational
action points arising from the audit, the majority of which have already been
addressed.
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Data Security
Data security risks are reported through the Information Governance Lead to the Chief
Corporate Services Officer. The CCGs Information Governance Group that reports to
the Audit Committee monitors a detailed action plan, linked to the requirements of the
NHS Digital Information Governance Toolkit.

Level-two compliance has been

achieved for all of the toolkit requirements giving an overall rating of ‘satisfactory’. No
strategic data security risks have been included in the Governing Body Assurance
Framework (GBAF) during the course of 2017-18 although the CCG is aware of the
increased risk from so called Cyber Security attacks and has as a matter of caution
included this risk in the Chief Corporate Services Officer’s local risk register.
Information Governance
NHS Digital Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures
by which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Management
Framework is supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual
submission process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other
organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally,
securely, efficiently and effectively.

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We
have established an information governance management framework and are
developing information governance processes and procedures in line with the
information governance toolkit. We have ensured that all staff under-take annual
information governance training so that they are aware of their information governance
roles and responsibilities.

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious
incidents.

We are developing information risk assessment and management

procedures and a programme will be established to fully embed an information risk
culture throughout the organisation against identified risks.
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Business Critical Models
An appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of
business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report.
Quality assurance is vital to ensure that business critical models are robust. The
Clinical Commissioning Group ensures as part of its quality assurance that the
appropriate governance is applied to its business critical models and that NHS quality
assurance guidelines and checklists are also applied.

Control Issues
The Clinical Commissioning Group is not aware of any current significant control
issues that would potentially:


Prejudice the achievement of priorities or undermine the integrity or reputation
of the CCG and/or wider NHS



Put delivery of the standards expected of the Accounting Officer at risk



Make it harder to resist fraud or other misuse of resources, or divert resources
from another significant aspect of the business



Have a material impact on the accounts



Put national security of data integrity at risk

Review of Economy, Efficiency & Effectiveness of the Use of
Resources
The CCG has systems and processes for managing its resources including the
following:
• Standing Orders.
• Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.
• Financial Policies.
• Strict controls on vacancy management, recruitment and use of agency staff
• Devolved budget management throughout the CCG.
• QIPP Delivery
The Governing Body gains assurance on the delivery of its financial duties from the
Financial Performance Committee on a monthly basis following their review of detailed
financial information including financial planning and QIPP delivery.
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The monthly Integrated Performance Report, which is submitted to the Governing
Body and Clinical Scrutiny Committee, provides performance updates on
Constitutional

Standards,

Clinical

Quality

and

Patient

Safety,

Contractual

Performance, Redesign programmes and the Programme Management Office.

The Programme Management Office (PMO) provides a weekly update of progress
against key milestones and financial delivery to the organisation and more formal
monthly reports to the Financial Performance Committee and as part of the Integrated
Performance Report.

Assurance is also provided to the Governing Body via the Audit Committee, which
receives regular reports from both Internal and External Audit to ensure that controls
are operating effectively and to advise on areas for improvement. The internal audit
plan has been designed to deliver assurance against constitutional duties and gave
useful insight into any gaps in controls, as outlined in the work of Internal Audit.

Delegation of Functions
The CCG has not delegated any of its functions

Counter Fraud Arrangements
The CCG is required under the terms of the Standard NHS Contract and in accordance
with the NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHS CFA) Standards for Commissioners:
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption, to ensure that appropriate counter fraud measures are
in place.
There was a robust programme of counter fraud and anti-bribery activity, supported
by the accredited Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) whose annual proportionate
proactive work plan to address identified risks, was monitored by the Chief Finance
Officer, the Head of Accounting and Control and the Audit Committee. Face to face
training was provided to various staff groups during 2017/18, including the Finance
Team and at the Practice Manager Forum meeting. Counter fraud material was
disseminated to staff regularly through the intranet, posters and leaflets, as well as
fraud awareness publicity being provided to staff at training sessions.
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The LCFS input to the review of eight policies, which were the Reimbursement of
Expenses and Recognition for Non-Staff Involvement Policy, the Management of
Serious Incidents Policy, the Violence and Aggression Policy, the Managing
Safeguarding Allegations Against Staff Policy, the Lone Worker Policy, the Health and
Safety Policy, the Dignity at Work Policy and the Individual Funding Requests Policy
(and Operating Procedures). This was to ensure that the policies were up-to-date and
accurate. Policies are reviewed in line with current legislation, from a best practice
and counter fraud perspective.

The LCFS attends the CCG Audit Committee regularly to provide progress reports and
updates, as well as providing an annual NHS CFA Self-Review Assessment against
each of the Standards for Commissioners. Appropriate action would be taken
regarding any NHS CFA quality assurance recommendations.

The LCFS issued five Crime Bulletins and 20 Fraud Alerts during 2017/18 relating to
subjects such as acid attacks, identifying and responding to suspicious behaviour,
debt recovery fraud, social media identity theft, mandate fraud, phone/internet provider
scam, phishing fraud, increase in phishing emails, latest ATM scams, Royal Mail
delivery scam and fake parking fine emails, which are ongoing fraud issues nationally
within the NHS and the wider public sector
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion (HoIA) on the Effectiveness of the
System of Internal Control for the Year Ended 31 March 2018
The purpose of my annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available
to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Board’s own
assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. This
Opinion will in turn assist the Board in the completion of its Annual Governance
Statement (AGS).
My opinion is set out as follows:
1. Overall opinion;
2. Basis for the opinion; and
3. Commentary.

1. My overall opinion is that Reasonable assurance can be given that there is a
generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s
objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. However,
some weakness in the design and/or inconsistent application of controls, put
the achievement of particular objectives at risk.
2. The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
i.

An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance
Framework and supporting processes; and

ii.

An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based
audit assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that
have been reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken
account of the relative materiality of these areas and management’s
progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses.

Additional areas of work that may support the opinion will be determined locally but
are not required for Department of Health purposes e.g. any reliance that is being
placed upon Third Party Assurances. Reliance has been placed on the following
Service Auditor Reports ISAE3402 for the period 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018
(except where identified):


NHS Shared Business Services from PricewaterhouseCoopers for Finance and
Accounting services.



Capita Business Services Ltd from KPMG for Primary Care Services England
(PCSE) for the period 1st April 2017 to 30th September 2017 and 1st October to
31st March 2018.

The above reports include exceptions in the opinion. These are summarised below:
SBS Service Auditor Report Opinion Conclusion


One exception was identified in relation into site access.
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Capita Services Ltd Service Auditor Report Opinion Conclusion - October to March
2018


The report identifies exceptions with seven out of the 16 control objectives.
These are focused mainly around management of authorised lists and system
access.

Apart from the exceptions noted above, all opinions state the following:


the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were
suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified control
objectives would be achieved if the described controls operated effectively
throughout the period audited and customers applied the complementary user
entity controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this assurance report; and



the controls tested which, together with the complementary user entity controls
referred to in the scope paragraph of this assurance report, if operating
effectively, were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance that the
control objectives stated in the description were achieved, operated effectively
throughout the period for the period audited.

3. Commentary – see Annex B for a summary of completed internal audit work.
Actual against planned Internal Audit Work 2017/18 (Annex B)

Annex C
“Limited” or “No” Assurance reports.
Review of Quality Premium Arrangements
The main findings from this review were as follows:


Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG is forecasting £37k of a possible £2m from QP,
with only two targets on track and an expected 66% reduction for failing two
deduction metrics.

141. NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18



The CCGs do not have a formal plan in place for maximising the benefits from
the QP incentive scheme.



A QP dashboard is maintained, and it was confirmed that this is reported to both
CCGs’ Governing Bodies.



The audit established measures being taken to improve performance against
targets, and it suggested the dashboard is developed to show these actions.

Review of HR Recruitment and Payroll
The main findings from this review were as follows:


Documentation relating to key employment checks has not been maintained
within the HR department.



Whilst management have suggested that key recruitment checks are
undertaken, the lack of an audit trail provides no assurance over the robustness
of the application of these controls.



There are controls in place over the financial aspects of the workforce, however
no positive pay returns have been completed in the last year.



Leavers tested had been removed promptly from the system and a checklist
completed to ensure processes were followed correctly.



Pay runs and reconciliations are completed within the Finance Department on
a monthly basis.
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Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and
Internal Control
As Accountable Officer I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the
system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group
My review was informed in a number of ways:


Chief Officers within the organisation who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance of the system of internal control provided me
with assurance



The GBAF itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls
that manage the risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have
been reviewed



The work of Governing Body committees, particularly the Audit Committee and
the Financial Performance Committee, which scrutinise and challenge
governance and risk activities and seek assurances on the effectiveness of
controls



The Clinical Scrutiny Committee, as a committee of the Governing Body,
provides strategic clinical leadership, expertise and advice whilst ensuring
effective clinical engagement, utilising clinician’s knowledge of local
communities and public and patient involvement



The work of the Chief Nursing Officers team in carrying out quality visits,
inspections and monitoring provider serious incidents and risks



Contract meetings with providers which hold them to account for the quality of
the services commissioned



The Health & Safety and Risk Committee reviews health & safety risks and
ensures the health & safety of the workforce and any persons working or visiting
the premises



The Information Governance Committee reviews information governance risks
and issues, including data losses, IT security, the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s obligations under the Data Protection Act 1998 and progress with the
IG Toolkit assessment, action plan and submission. The latter also monitored
by the Audit Committee.
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The work of regulatory bodies such as Monitor and the Care Quality
Commission - their inspection reports provided assurance on the quality and
governance of our provider organisations and services and help triangulate
local information.



The work of the Local Counter Fraud Specialist.



The Serious Incident (SI) process for reporting and investigating serious
incidents and robust monitoring of action plans to ensure recommendations are
put into practice and risk mitigated.



Internal Audit provides an independent, objective opinion on the degree to
which governance and risk management supports the achievement of the
organisation’s objectives. The Head of Internal Audit, in accordance with NHS
Internal Audit Standards, was required to provide an annual opinion of the
overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal
control, covering the whole financial year. For 2017-18 the opinion stated that
reasonable assurance could be given, as a generally sound system of internal
control is in place, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and controls
are generally being applied consistently and effectively, with only minor areas
for improvement identified.



Within the Clinical Commissioning Group information risk management forms
part of the wider information governance agenda. Ultimate responsibility rests
with me as Chief Officer and I am supported by the Senior Information Risk
Owner (SIRO), a member of the Governing Body. The SIRO in turn is supported
on a daily basis by the Risk Manager and the Information Governance Lead
and Data Protection Officer who jointly have responsibility for following up on
issues in this area.



An Information Governance Group, chaired by the SIRO and attended by staff
from all areas, meets every quarter. This group discusses all information related
issues and makes recommendations of actions to address them. The group
provides updates into the Audit Committee on a regular basis.

To support this, the Clinical Commissioning Group has approved a number of polices
including Information Governance Policy, IT Security Policy and a Data Protection
Policy, which guide staff on their responsibilities.
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Conclusion
The Governance Statement highlights the Clinical Commissioning Group’s key
strategic risks that include the risk of failure to achieve financial balance, and the ongoing performance issues with mental health services. Additional key issues facing
the Clinical Commissioning Group during 2017-18 were failure to comply with Special
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) reforms, the CCG not being able to meet its
statutory duties to safeguard children and adults in Suffolk and the East of England
Ambulance Service Trust (EEAST) failing performance targets against ambulance
response times.

One of the Clinical Commissioning Groups key priorities is to improve access to mental
health services across Suffolk. Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (NSFT) is
the main provider of mental health services commissioned by the Clinical
Commissioning Group.

The Trusts previous CQC Inspection report highlighted

serious concerns in service quality and rated the Trust inadequate overall. The Clinical
Commissioning Group has therefore continued to work closely with the Trust during
2017-18 to ensure it delivers the required quality improvements. There have been
regular quality review meetings to assess performance against defined key
performance indicators in order to develop a quality dashboard promoting visual
assessment of performance against agreed thresholds and allowing trends to be
identified. In addition, there has been CCG and NHS Improvement attendance at
monthly stakeholder assurance meetings to review and challenge progress against
quality improvement plans. Scheduled quality improvement visits to Suffolk based
NSFT services have taken place and the CCG has also supported NSFTs mock CQC
inspections in order to provide feedback and gain assurance that the Trust has robust
plans in place to address any on-going concerns identified.

Regarding Failure to comply with Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)
reforms definitive actions have been taken to achieve compliance. A SEND Strategy
Group (and associated sub-groups) has been established to provide strategic
leadership and governance overseeing implementation of improvement actions. In
addition a Programme Manager has been appointed to deliver the necessary
improvements supported by a SEND Support Worker.
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In order to ensure that the CCG meets its statutory duties to safeguard children and
adults in Suffolk, line management arrangements have been changed in order that
designates now report directly to Chief Nursing Officer who directly supports the
management of safeguarding teams.

During 2017-18, the CCG has worked with the East of England Ambulance Service
Trust to address performance issues, particularly in regard to ambulance response
times. There have been weekly performance reviews and forecasting updates with
both commissioners and providers, together with a risk summit convened in February
2018. The monthly contract review focuses particularly on local performance
attainment and issues of response and turnaround times.

2017-18 was another important year for the CCG in continuing to transform health and
care services as part of the Suffolk and North East Essex Sustainability and
Transformation Plan (STP) area and now working towards the establishment of a
strategic commissioning organisation through development of the local Integrated
Care System (ICS). By the alignment of CCG functions and governance
arrangements, Suffolk and North East Essex CCGs will be better able to shape a
strengthened strategic commissioning function around their distinct health and social
care requirements which will deliver improved outcomes across a bigger geographical
footprint, whilst retaining the ability to respond sensitively to local communities.
Good governance is about the processes for making and implementing decisions but
is also important for several other reasons. It not only gives the local community
confidence in its CCG as the commissioner of their healthcare needs, but improves
the confidence that members and officers have in their own organisation and its
decision making processes. With the heightened corporate focus across the NHS on
the management of conflicts of interest the need for clear and robust governance
arrangements is ever more important so that we can ensure the key role GPs play in
ensuring good governance and leading the clinical strategy of the CCG is maximised
within the processes set out in this report.

146. NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2017/18

Dr Ed Garratt
Accountable Officer, Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
22 May 2018
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2018
Note

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(16,896)
(272)
(17,168)

(28,942)
(54)
(28,996)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

1,148
549,013
42
(261)
714
550,656

2,180
492,245
74
183
510
495,192

Net Operating Expenditure

533,488

466,196

Total Net Expenditure for the year
Other Comprehensive Expenditure
Sub total

533,488

466,196

0

0

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2018

533,488

466,196
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2018
Note

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Total non-current assets

8

97
97

139
139

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

9
10

2,494
362
2,856

2,592
190
2,782

2,953

2,921

(37,219)
(1,349)
(38,568)

(28,002)
(1,821)
(29,823)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities

(35,615)

(26,902)

Assets less Liabilities

(35,615)

(26,902)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Total taxpayers' equity:

(35,615)
0
(35,615)

(26,906)
4
(26,902)

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

11
12

The notes on pages 6 to 32 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 2 to 32 were approved by the Governing Body on 22 May 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Accountable Officer
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2018
General fund
£'000

Revaluation
reserve
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

(26,906)
(26,906)

4
4

(26,902)
(26,902)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Balance at 01 April 2017
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Transfers between reserves
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the
Financial Year

(533,488)

(533,488)

4

(4)

0

(533,484)

(4)

(533,488)

Net funding received

524,775

0

524,775

Balance at 31 March 2018

(35,615)

0

(35,615)

General fund
£'000

Revaluation
reserve
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

(21,769)
(21,769)

4
4

(21,765)
(21,765)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Balance at 01 April 2016
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2017
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Net operating costs for the financial year
Transfers between reserves
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the
Financial Year

(466,196)

(466,196)

0

(0)

0

(487,965)

4

(487,961)

Net funding received

461,059

0

461,059

Balance at 31 March 2017

(26,906)

4

(26,902)

NOTE:
Under the NHS reforms that came into effect in April 2013, most of the material high value assets previously carried by Primary Care Trusts
such as land and buildings were transferred to non-CCG bodies, e.g. NHS Property Services Ltd. Consequently CCGs in general do not
carry material non-current assets on their balance sheets. Therefore net assets/liabilities equate to the difference between actual net
operating costs incurred (accounted for on an accruals basis) and the cash funding drawn down from NHS England to finance this
expenditure.
The notes on pages 6 to 32 form part of this statement.

4

NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2017-18
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2018
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
9
11
12
12

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

10

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash
equivalents held in foreign currencies
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 6 to 32 form part of this statement.
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2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

(533,488)
42
98
9,217
(211)
(261)
(524,603)

(466,196)
74
1,820
3,483
(552)
183
(461,188)

(524,603)

(461,188)

524,775
524,775

461,059
461,059

172

(129)

190

319

0

0

362

190
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Notes to the financial statements
1.

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2017-18 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in
the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the
clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical
commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets,
by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will
continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Pooled Budgets
Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006
the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled
budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning group recognises:
·

The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;

·

The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;

·

The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and,

·

The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.

If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the clinical commissioning group
recognises:

1.4

·

The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);

·

The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,

·

The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates
and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

1.4.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
Better Care Fund:
The CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Suffolk County Council in respect of the Better Care Fund. This is a national policy
initiative and the funds involved are material in the CCG accounts. Having reviewed the terms of the agreement, the Department of Health and
Social Care manual for accounts and the appropriate financial reporting standards, the CCG has determined that there are two elements to the
Better Care Fund and they are accounted for as follows:
(i) The first part is controlled by Suffolk County Council which commissions services from various non-NHS providers. Whilst the services are
determined in partnership, the risks and rewards of the contracts remain wholly with the council. The CCG accounts for this on a lead commissioner
basis as healthcare expenditure with the local authority.
(ii) The second part is controlled by the CCG which commissions various services from NHS and non-NHS providers. The risks and rewards of
these contracts are the responsibility of the CCG, which considers itself to be acting as a lead commissioner for those services. The CCG accounts
for these costs as healthcare purchased from NHS and non-NHS providers.
Otherwise there were no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of
applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

1.4.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
Prescription Services:
The CCG receives financial information from NHS Business Services Authority relating to the cost of drugs prescribed by independent GPs, CCG
run practices and other CCG services. The total expenditure for the year includes an estimate March, based on the estimated profile of spend. The
estimate for March 2018 is £5.0m (2016-17 £5.0m).
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Secondary Healthcare:
Secondary activity reports are received from providers monthly, but activity information for the final month of the year is not available in time for the
accounts, so estimates are made in agreement with providers. A full reconciliation is undertaken once actual activity is agreed which is at the end
of the first quarter of the following year. Any increase or decrease in activity (if any) becomes a charge or credit in the next financial year.
Historically, when these estimates have been compared to the subsequent actual data, they have not been materially different. Estimation
techniques are used to ensure that the correct levels of income and expenditure due relating to the current year are included through the inclusion
of accruals based on known commitments and local knowledge.
Partially Completed Spells:
Expenditure relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year-end are apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length
of stay at the end of the reporting period compared to expected total length of stay. The CCG agrees to use the figures calculated by the local
provider Trusts. The closing partially completed spells accruals, as notified by the provider Trusts, have been netted off with the equivalent balances
from the prior year, with any resulting difference charged to operating expenses. The value of the accrual as at 31 March 2018 is £1,441k (31 March
2017 £1,350k).
Maternity Pathways:
Expenditure relating to all ante-natal maternity care is made at the start of a pathway. As a result, at the year-end part completed pathways are
treated as a prepayment. The CCG agreed the methodology to be used for the calculation with the local provider Trusts. The value of the
prepayment as at 31 March 2018 is £729k (31 March 2017 £1,019k).
Continuing Healthcare Accruals:
The CCG commissions a large number of Continuing Healthcare (CHC) packages from a variety of providers, and administers these packages
using the Broadcare system. At the end of any accounting period there will be a number of liabilities that have not been invoiced by providers, and
so an accrual is calculated to ensure that the financial ledger is consistent with the information reported on Broadcare. The value of the accrual as
at 31 March 2018 is £1,472k (31 March 2017 £1,334k).
Prescribing Liabilities:
NHS England actions monthly cash charges to the CCG for prescribing contracts. These are issued approximately 6 weeks in arrears. The CCG
uses information provided by the NHS Business Services Authority as part of the estimate for full year expenditure. The value of the accrual as at
31 March 2018 is £5.0m (31 March 2017 £5.0m).
1.5

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.6

Employee Benefits

1.6.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses
earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees
are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that
covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The
scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in
the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability
for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the
method of payment.
Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme assets
and liabilities attributable to those employees can be identified and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s accounts. The assets are
measured at fair value and the liabilities at the present value of the future obligations. The increase in the liability arising from pensionable service
earned during the year is recognised within operating expenses. The expected gain during the year from scheme assets is recognised within finance
income. The interest cost during the year arising from the unwinding of the discount on the scheme liabilities is recognised within finance costs.
Actuarial gains and losses during the year are recognised in the General Reserve and reported as an item of other comprehensive net expenditure.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair
value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation,
which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.
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1.8

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.8.1

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·

It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

·

It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;

·

It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

·

The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,

·

The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,

·
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under
single managerial control; or,
·

Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as
separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
1.8.2

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and
bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured
subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial
position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be
determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
·

Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,

·

Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.

HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it would
meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets
are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously
recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease
that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the
extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of
economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in
the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.8.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is
written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.9

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current
assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential
of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or
service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself.
Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets
held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible noncurrent assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to
determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise
from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there
been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there
and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
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1.10

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

1.10.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating
or finance leases.

1.11

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant
risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an
integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.12

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
·
·
·

Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.420% (previously: minus 2.70%)
Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.85% (previously: minus 1.95%)
Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 1.56% (previously: minus 0.80%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to
those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are
those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.
1.13

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS
Resolution which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Resolution is
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.14

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with
the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they become due.

1.15

Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.
Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.16

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the
asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

·

Held to maturity investments;

·

Available for sale financial assets; and,

·

Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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1.16.1

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate
value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain
or loss recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest
earned on the financial asset.

1.16.2

Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and there is a positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.16.3

Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall within any of the
other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the exception
of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.

1.16.4

Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After initial
recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective
interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the
initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value
through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as
a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure
and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the
receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

1.17

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.17.1

Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
·

The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,

·
The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.
1.17.2

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate
value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial
liability.

1.17.3

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from
Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective
interest method.

1.18

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.19

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the
generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would
have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then
being included as normal revenue expenditure).
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1.20

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The DHSC Group accounting manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2017-18. These standards are
still subject to FREM adoption and early adoption is not therefore permitted.
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (application from 1 January 2018)
IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts (not applicable to DH groups bodies)
IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)
IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (application from 1 January 2021)
IFRIC 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (application from 1 January 2018)
IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (application from 1 January 2019)

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2017-18, were they applied in that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue
2017-18
Total

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2017-18
2017-18
Admin Programme

2016-17
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

17
110
16,786
255
17,168

17
110
136
0
263

0
0
16,650
255
16,905

0
30
28,912
54
28,996

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG
and credited to the General Fund.

NOTE: The decrease in 'Non-patient care services to other bodies' income is due to a change to the lead commissioning arrangements in
respect of the Community Services contract. From 1 October 2017 Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG ceased to be the lead commissioner for
the Community Services contract and West Suffolk CCG were subsequently charged direct by the provider for their share of the contract.
This equates to £2,085k per month.

3. Revenue
2017-18
Total
£'000
17,168
17,168

From rendering of services
Total

2017-18
2017-18
Admin Programme
£'000
£'000
263
16,905
263
16,905

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The clinical commissioning group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.
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2016-17
Total
£'000
28,996
28,996
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

2017-18

Total

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Gross employee benefits expenditure

945
87
116
1,148

840
87
116
1,043

105
0
0
105

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(17)
1,131

(17)
1,026

0
105

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

1,131

1,026

105

NOTE:
West Suffolk CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team that provides management support to both West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG. The cost of the Management Delivery Team is shared between both CCGs in the following proportion:
- Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 62.1%
- West Suffolk CCG 37.9%
The Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG share of these pay costs is shown as a charge from West Suffolk CCG in the Ipswich and East Suffolk
CCG accounts and not as employee benefits. Likewise the income from the charge is shown as income from Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG in
the West Suffolk CCG accounts and is not netted-off against employee benefits.

4.1.1 Employee benefits

2016-17

Total

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Gross employee benefits expenditure

1,757
185
238
2,180

1,714
185
238
2,137

43
0
0
43

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

2,180

2,137

43

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

2,180

2,137

43

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2017-18

2016-17

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

(13)
(2)
(2)
(17)

(13)
(2)
(2)
(17)

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
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4.2 Average number of people employed

Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

Total
Number

2017-18
Permanently
employed
Number

2016-17
Other
Number

Total
Number

27

25

2

43

0

0

0

0

4.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year
The CCG did not agree any exit packages during 2017-18 (2016-17 £nil).
NOTE: West Suffolk CCG agreed an exit package of £96,124 during 2016-17 which related to a Management Delivery Team member who
was performing a shared role split between West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. Due to the fact that West Suffolk CCG
hosts the Management Delivery Team, the exit package was paid in full through the host organisation. Therefore the full amount of the exit
package is shown in the West Suffolk CCG accounts with income from Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG being accounted for as 'Non-patient
care services to other bodies'. Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG were charged 62.8% of the total settlement by West Suffolk CCG. This
equated to £60,366 and was accounted for by Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG as 'Services from other CCGs and NHS England' (see Note 5).
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4.4 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of
the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the
Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of
the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
4.4.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2018, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2017, updated to 31 March
2018 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19,
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS
Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be
obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. The
Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM
Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016 and is currently being prepared. The direction assumptions are
published by HM Treasury which are used to complete the valuation calculations, from which the final valuation report can be signed off by
the scheme actuary. This will set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative
to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if
the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions to
member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant
stakeholders.
For 2017-18, employers’ contributions of £116k were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2016-17: £238k) at the rate of 14.38% of
pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation
Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government
website on 9 June 2014. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1.1.
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5. Operating expenses
2017-18
Total
£'000

2017-18
Admin
£'000

2017-18
Programme
£'000

2016-17
Total
£'000

1,034
114
1,148

1,026
114
1,140

8
0
8

1,956
224
2,180

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Depreciation
Audit fees
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Clinical negligence
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Total other costs

9,157
120,559
232,966
65,648
707
179
43
0
1,181
349
1,702
42
66
60,265
4
56,471
21
98
8
303
(261)
0
549,508

5,278
0
7
0
707
0
43
0
211
0
65
42
66
0
0
0
21
0
8
219
(70)
0
6,597

3,879
120,559
232,959
65,648
0
179
0
0
970
349
1,637
0
0
60,265
4
56,471
0
98
0
84
(191)
0
542,911

7,927
137,913
206,426
73,156
502
69
2
55
427
0
2,090
74
69
61,159
0
1,664
23
1
8
178
183
1,086
493,012

Total operating expenses

550,656

7,737

542,919

495,192

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
The significant increase in expenditure between accounting periods is due to the transfer of the delegated primary care co-commissioning
allocation from NHS England to the CCG from 1 April 2017. The allocation for 2017-18 was £54,727k and resulted in an increase in costs in
the above note of £54,984k.
5.1 Limitation on auditors’ liability
The limitation on auditors’ liability for external audit work is £2m.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2017-18
Number

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
Number

2016-17
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

11,684
11,178
95.67%

130,880
127,868
97.70%

12,481
12,063
96.65%

91,988
89,020
96.77%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2,761
2,669
96.67%

367,784
364,999
99.24%

2,923
2,842
97.23%

359,040
355,753
99.08%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipts of a valid
invoice, whichever is later.

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

Amounts included in finance costs from claims made under this legislation
Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation
Total

17

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

0
0
0

0
0
0
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
The clinical commissioning group occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property
Services Limited.
7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

Buildings
£'000

2017-18
Total
£'000

Buildings
£'000

2016-17
Total
£'000

1,529
1,529

1,529
1,529

2,059
2,059

2,059
2,059

Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating
leases, rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently this note does not
include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements.
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8. Property, plant and equipment
Plant &
machinery
£'000
3

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
333

Total
£'000
336

(3)
0

(131)
202

(134)
202

3

194

197

(3)
0
0

(131)
42
105

(134)
42
105

Net Book Value at 31 March 2018

0

97

97

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2018

0
0

97
97

97
97

0
0

97
97

97
97

Plant &
machinery
£'000
0

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
4

Total
£'000
4

0
0

(4)
0

(4)
0

Plant &
machinery
£'000
3

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
337

Total
£'000
340

Disposals other than by sale
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2017

0
3

(4)
333

(4)
336

Depreciation 01 April 2016

3

124

127

Disposals other than by sale
Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2017

0
0
3

(4)
74
194

(4)
74
197

Net Book Value at 31 March 2017

0

139

139

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2017

0
0

139
139

139
139

0
0

139
139

139
139

Plant &
machinery
£'000
0

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
4

Total
£'000
4

0

4

4

2017-18

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2017
Disposals other than by sale
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2018
Depreciation 01 April 2017
Disposals other than by sale
Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2018

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2018

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

Balance at 01 April 2017
Release to general fund
Balance at 31 March 2018

2016-17
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2016

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2017

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

Balance at 01 April 2016
Balance at 31 March 2017
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8. Property, plant and equipment cont'd
8.1 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets
The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:

Plant & machinery
Furniture & fittings
Total

2017-18
£'000
0
0
0

2016-17
£'000
3
47
50

Minimum
Life (years)
10

Maximum
Life (Years)
15

8.2 Economic lives

Furniture & fittings
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9. Trade and other receivables

Current
2017-18
£'000

Non-current
2017-18
£'000

Current
2016-17
£'000

Non-current
2016-17
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
VAT
Total Trade & other receivables

955
997
382
38
86
36
2,494

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,143
1,061
239
61
4
84
2,592

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total current and non current

2,494

2,592

0

0

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

The great majority of trade is with NHS bodies and Local Authorities therefore no credit scoring is considered necessary.

9.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2017-18
£'000

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

DH Group
Bodies

2017-18
£'000
Non DH
Group
Bodies

All receivables
prior years

470
2
112
584

144
0
38
182

76
141
205
422

£541,162 of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2018.
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2016-17
£'000
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10. Cash and cash equivalents
2017-18
£'000
190
172
362

2016-17
£'000
319
(129)
190

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

362
0
362

190
0
190

Balance at 31 March 2018

362

190

Balance at 01 April 2017
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2018
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Current
2017-18
£'000

Non-current
2017-18
£'000

Current
2016-17
£'000

Non-current
2016-17
£'000

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

6,768
1,278
5,034
23,307
832
37,219

0
0
0
0
0
0

6,419
1,350
3,539
16,425
269
28,002

0
0
0
0
0
0

Total current and non-current

37,219

11. Trade and other payables

28,002

Included above are liabilities of £Nil due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement over 5
years.
Other payables include £535k (31/03/17 - £Nil) outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2018.
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12. Provisions

Continuing care
Other
Total
Total current and non-current

Balance at 01 April 2017
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2018
Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Balance at 31 March 2018

Current
2017-18
£'000
830
519
1,349

Non-current
2017-18
£'000
0
0
0

1,349

Current
2016-17
£'000
310
1,511
1,821

Non-current
2016-17
£'000
0
0
0

1,821

Continuing
Care
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

310

1,511

1,821

782
(73)
(189)
830

519
(138)
(1,373)
519

1,301
(211)
(1,562)
1,349

830
830

519
519

1,349
1,349

The Continuing Care provision consists of the likely costs associated with appeals as at 31 March 2018 and the likely costs associated
with a backlog of cases that relate to retrospective periods of care. The provision has been calculated on a case by case basis using
both average weekly costs and conversion rates.
The Other provision relates to potential one-off abortive costs in relation to a public sector project.
£Nil is included in the provisions of NHS Resolution as at 31 March 2018 in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the Clinical
Commissioning Group.
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13. Financial instruments
13.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because the NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk
faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of
listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or
invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change
the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
13.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning
group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
13.1.2 Interest rate risk
The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England.
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
13.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning
group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
13.1.4 Liquidity risk

The NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources
voted annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS
clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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13. Financial instruments cont'd
13.2 Financial assets
Loans and
Receivables
2017-18
£'000

Total
2017-18
£'000

955
468
362
1,785

955
468
362
1,785

Loans and
Receivables
2016-17
£'000

Total
2016-17
£'000

1,143
243
190
1,576

1,143
243
190
1,576

Other
2017-18
£'000

Total
2017-18
£'000

8,046
29,173
37,219

8,046
29,173
37,219

Other
2016-17
£'000

Total
2016-17
£'000

7,769
20,233
28,002

7,769
20,233
28,002

Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Total at 31 March 2018

Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Total at 31 March 2017

13.3 Financial liabilities

Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Total at 31 March 2018

Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Total at 31 March 2017
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14. Operating segments
The Clinical Commissioning Group considers it has only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has income totalling £17,168K from external customers. Only one customer generated
income greater than 10% of the total sum - NHS West Suffolk CCG (£13,169k). The majority of this income is derived from
the hosting and lead commissioning arrangements.
15. Pooled budgets
15.1 Mental Health Pooled Fund
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled funding arrangement under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, in
which the Clinical Commissioning Group made a total contribution of £570k (2016-17 - £684k). This is a jointly controlled
operation under IAS 31.
The pool is hosted by Suffolk County Council. As a commissioner of healthcare services, the Clinical Commissioning Group
makes contributions to the pool, which is then used to purchase Mental Health services. The memorandum account
produced by Suffolk County Council shows the following:

Income
Expenditure
Surplus
CCG's share of the surplus

2017-18
£000
3,101
(3,068)

2016-17
£000
3,629
(3,539)

33

90

6

17

15.2 Better Care Fund
From 1 April 2015, the Clinical Commissioning Group entered into a Section 75 pooled fund arrangement with Suffolk
County Council for the Better Care Fund. The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a policy initiative between local authorities, CCGs
and NHS providers which has resulted in pooled funds being used to jointly commission or deliver health and social care.
Suffolk County Council act as the Host Partner for the pooled fund and provides the financial management for the fund.

Strategic oversight of the Better Care Fund is provided by the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Clinical Commissioning
Group and Suffolk County Council have agreed that the already established Suffolk Commissioners' Group should act as the
Partnership Board for the fund. The Partnership Board is responsible for the overall approval of the individual schemes,
ensuring compliance with the Better Care Fund Plan and the strategic direction of the Better Care Fund.
Each partner to the Better Care Fund manages the contracts with their own providers of Better Care Fund services and each
partner retains any financial risk relating to those contracts. The Clinical Commissioning Group's shares of the income and
expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial year was:

Income
Expenditure

Expenditure is further analysed as follows:
Contracts for which Suffolk County Council was the lead commissioner:
Contracts for which the Clinical Commissioning Group was the lead commissioner:
Total expenditure
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2017-18
£000
0
(24,168)

2016-17
£000
0
(23,743)

2017-18
£000
9,311
14,857
24,168

2016-17
£000
9,147
14,596
23,743
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16. Related party transactions (2017-18)
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG has a governing body consisting of seven GPs from across four localities; one secondary care lead; two lay members
responsible for patient and public engagement, governance and conflicts of interest, and a third general lay member and seven chief officers. All of
the GPs on the governing body are Partners in Practices that supply general or personal medical services commissioned by Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG. The value of transactions with these Practices is set out in the table below and largely consists of payments for local enhanced
services supplied under contract to the CCG.
2017/18

Name of Related Party
Governing Body Members:
Dr Mark Shenton - Partner - Stowhealth
Dr Imran Qureshi - Partner - The Leiston Surgery
Dr Michael McCullagh - Partner - Orchard Medical Practice
Dr John Hague - Partner - The Derby Road Practice & Dr Billy McKee - Salaried
GP - The Derby Road Practice
Dr Imaad Khalid- Clinical Lead Walton Surgery
Dr Ayesha Tu Zahra- Partner Two Rivers Medical Practice

Payments to
Receipts Amounts Amounts
Related Party in
Payments to
from owed to due from
respect of
Related Party Related Related Related
Primary Care
Party
Party
Party
Provision
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
97
0
8
0
2,650
82
0
10
0
1,106
62
0
17
0
1,668
73

0

0

0

2,034

17
41

0
0

0
15

0
0

573
3,038

Dr Carrie Everitt, the spouse of Dr Mark Shenton, is a GP Partner of Hadleigh Health Centre. The CCG's transactions with Hadleigh Health Centre
were as follows:
2017/18
Payments to
Receipts Amounts Amounts
Related Party in
from owed to due from
respect of
Related Related Related
Primary Care
Party
Party
Party
Provision
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
0
0
0
74
2,441

Payments to
Related Party
Name of Related Party
Hadleigh Health Centre

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG also has a Clinical Executive Committee comprising the full membership of the governing body together with a further
seven GPs from Ipswich and East Suffolk. All of the GPs on the Clinical Executive Committee are Partners in Practices that supply general or
personal medical services commissioned by Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. The value of transactions with these Practices, not otherwise disclosed
above is set out in the table below and largely consists of payments for local enhanced services supplied under contract to the CCG.
2017/18
Payments to
Related Party
Name of Related Party
Clinical Executive Committee Members:
Dr David Egan - Partner - Debenham Group Practice
Dr John Flather
Dr Peter Holloway
Dr Juno Jesuthasan - Partner - Barrack Lane Medical Centre
Dr John Oates - Partner - Saxmundham Health Centre
Dr Benjamin Solway - Partner - Dr Solway, Whale and Mallich Practice
Dr Chris Rufford

£000
67
0
0
81
86
92
0
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Payments to
Receipts Amounts Amounts
Related Party in
from owed to due from
respect of
Related Related Related
Primary Care
Party
Party
Party
Provision
£000
£000
£000
£000
0
0
0
1,285
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3
0
2,018
0
0
0
1,621
0
0
0
570
0
0
0
0
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16. Related party transactions (2017-18) - continued
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG has had a significant
number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The entities with
whom the value of transactions exceeded £250,000 are listed below:2017/18 Entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250k
NHS Property Services
NHS England
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Barts Health NHS Trust
Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust
James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust
West Suffolk Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Guys & St Thomas NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk & Suffolk Foundation Trust
Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust
University College London NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk Community & Care NHS Trust
East Of England Ambulance Services NHS Trust
Imperial College Health Care NHS Trust
In addition, Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other
central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Suffolk County Council.
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16 Related party transactions (2016-17)

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG has a governing body consisting of five GPs from across four localities; one secondary care lead; two lay members
responsible for patient and public engagement, governance and conflicts of interest, and a third general lay member and seven chief officers. All of
the GPs on the governing body are Partners in Practices that supply general or personal medical services commissioned by Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG. The value of transactions with these Practices is set out in the table below and largely consists of payments for local enhanced
services supplied under contract to the CCG.

Payments to
Related Party
Name of Related Party
Governing Body Members:
Dr Mark Shenton - Partner - Stowhealth
Dr Imran Qureshi - Partner - The Leiston Surgery
Dr Michael McCullagh - Partner - Orchard Medical Practice
Dr John Hague - Partner - The Derby Road Practice
Dr Billy McKee - Partner - Walton Surgery

£000
56
42
60
67
9

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
1
0
0
0
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0

2016/17
Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0

Dr Carrie Everitt, the spouse of Dr Mark Shenton, is a GP Partner of Hadleigh Health Centre. The CCG's transactions with Hadleigh Health Centre
were as follows:

Payments to
Related Party
Name of Related Party
Hadleigh Health Centre

£000
81

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
0

2016/17
Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0

Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG also has a Clinical Executive Committee comprising the full membership of the governing body together with a further
six GPs from Ipswich and East Suffolk. All of the GPs on the Clinical Executive Committee are Partners in Practices that supply general or personal
medical services commissioned by Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. The value of transactions with these Practices, not otherwise disclosed above is
set out in the table below and largely consists of payments for local enhanced services supplied under contract to the CCG.

Payments to
Related Party
Name of Related Party
Clinical Executive Committee Members:
Dr David Egan - Partner - Debenham Group Practice
Dr John Flather - Partner - Hadleigh Health Centre
Dr Peter Holloway - Partner - Mendlesham and Bacton Practices
Dr Juno Jesuthasan - Partner - Barrack Lane Medical Centre
Dr John Oates - Partner - Saxmundham Health Centre
Dr Benjamin Solway - Partner - Dr Solway, Whale and Mallich Practice

£000
34
81
49
77
60
50
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Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
1
0
0

2016/17
Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
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16 Related party transactions (2016-17) - continued
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG has had a significant number
of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The entities with whom the
value of transactions exceeded £250,000 are listed below:2016/17 Entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250k
Barts Health NHS Trust
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Guy's And St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust
James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust
NHS Bedfordshire CCG
NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
NHS England
NHS Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG
NHS Luton CCG
NHS North and East London CSU
NHS Property Services Ltd
NHS South Norfolk CCG
NHS West Suffolk CCG
Norfolk & Norwich University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk Community Health And Care NHS Trust
North Essex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
The Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust
In addition, Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other
central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Suffolk County Council.
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17. Events after the end of the reporting period
There were no events after the balance sheet date to be disclosed in 2017-18.
18. Losses and special payments
18.1 Losses
The Clinical Commissioning Group made no losses during 2017-18.
18.2 Special payments
The Clinical Commissioning Group made no special payments during 2017-18.
19. Financial performance targets
NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income (Note 1)
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions (Note 2)
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Delegated primary care co-commissioning resource use compared to the amount specified in Directions

NHS Act
Section

Duty
Achieved?
Yes
N/A
Yes
N/A
N/A
Yes

2017-18
Target
£'000
554,488
0
537,321
0
0
8,624

2017-18
Performance
£'000
550,655
0
533,488
0
0
7,474

2016-17
Target
£'000
502,761
0
473,765
0
0
8,547

2016-17
Performance
£'000
495,192
0
466,196
0
0
7,604

223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)
223J(1)
223J(2)
223J(3)
Supplementary
Information

N/A

54,727

54,788

0

0

Note 1: For the purposes of Section 223H(1), expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue and capital in the financial year, and income is defined as the aggregate of the notified in-year revenue
resource, notified capital resource and all other amounts accounted as received in the financial year (whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis). The income target has
changed from cumulative in 2016-17 to in-year in 2017-18. The below table highlights the differences in reported targets between the two accounting periods:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Expenditure not to exceed income

In-Year Target - as per 2017-18 accounts
Cumulative Target - as per 2016-17 accounts
Brought forward surplus

2017-18
Target
£'000
554,488
562,057
7,569

2016-17
Target
£'000
499,788
502,761
2,973

Note 2: For the purposes of Section 223I(3), target is defined as the in-year agreed revenue allocation for 2017-18 but the cumulative in-year agreed revenue allocation for 2016-17. The below table highlights the differences
in reported targets between the two accounting periods:
2017-18
2016-17
Target
Target
£'000
£'000
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
In-Year Target - as per 2017-18 accounts
537,321
470,792
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Cumulative Target - as per 2016-17 accounts
544,890
473,765
Brought forward surplus
7,569
2,973

As set out in the 2017/18 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 0.5% reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside the monies that CCGs were otherwise required to spend nonrecurrently. This was intended to be released for investment in Five Year Forward View transformation priorities to the extent that evidence emerged of risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through other means.

In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS England has been unable to allow CCGs’ 0.5% non-recurrent monies to be spent. Therefore, to comply with this requirement, NHS Ipswich
and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group has released its 0.5% reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an additional surplus for the year of £2,348k. This additional surplus will be carried forward for drawdown in future
years.
The Clinical Commissioning Group achieved a cumulative surplus of £11,402k for the year ended 31 March 2018 (£7,569k 2016-17). This surplus was composed of £7,569k of surplus from previous years and £3,833k
achieved in 2017-18 - shown by line 223I(3) in the table above. The 2017-18 surplus was made up of £2,348k contingency reserve which NHS England and HM Treasury required the organisation to hold in case of financial
deficits elsewhere in the NHS, £505k released to CCGs in March from national drug cost negotiations, and £980k of surplus relating to CCG activities undertaken during the year ending 31 March 2018.
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